





## BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT REFORM AND POVERTY

RAPID EVIDENCE ASSESSMENT, AUGUST 2015

The authors of this report are

Simon White and Peter Fortune (Coffey International Development)

#### **Funding**

This is an independent report commissioned and funded by the Research and Evidence Division in the Department for International Development. This material has been funded by UK aid from the UK Government, however, the views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK Government's official policies.

#### Disclaimer

This report is provided on the basis that it is for the use of DFID only. Coffey International Development Ltd will not be bound to discuss, explain or reply to queries raised by any agency other than the intended recipients of this report. Coffey International Development Ltd disclaims all liability to any third party who may place reliance on this report and therefore does not assume responsibility for any loss or damage suffered by any such third party in reliance thereon.

#### **Acknowledgements**

While Simon White and Peter Fortune are the authors of this report, a number of others have contributed to this evidence assessment. We are grateful for the contributions provided by Jan Filipowicz, Katarzyna Krasucka, Wojciech Solak, and Jorge Velaquez Roa. We are also grateful for the support and guidance provided by the staff at DFID: Andreas Hansen, Jessica Vince, Tom Nickalls, Tom Ratsakatika, Oliver De'Ath, and Tim Green.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

There were no conflict of interests in the writing of this report.

#### **Contributions**

The opinions expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the Department of International Development. Responsibility for the views expressed remains solely with the authors.

#### **Picture**

The cover picture of this REA has been made available for non-commercial reuse by DFID under the Creative Commons Licence: CC BY-NC-ND 2.0: <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.0/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.0/</a>. The picture can be found here.

#### Citation

This report should be cited as: White, S. and Fortune, P. (2015) *Business Environment Reform and Poverty: Rapid Evidence Assessment.* London: Coffey International Development.

#### © Crown copyright 2015

Copyright in the typographical arrangement and design rests with the Crown. This publication (excluding the logo) may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium, provided that it is reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright with the title and source of the publication specified.

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BE Business environment

BER Business environment reform

DCED Donor Committee for Enterprise Development
DFID Department for International Development

FDI Foreign Direct Investment
GDP Gross Domestic Product

IC Investment climate

ICR Investment climate reform

IEG Independent Evaluation Group, World Bank Group

IFC International Finance Corporation
ILO International Labour Organization
ODA Official development assistance

OECD Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

PSD Private sector development
REA Rapid Evidence Assessment

SMEs Small and medium-sized enterprises

VAT Value Added Tax

WBES World Bank Enterprise Survey

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This rapid evidence assessment (REA) applies a systematic method of identifying, assessing and reviewing evidence that can be used to answer the research question: What is the evidence on the direct impact of business environment reforms on poverty? While poverty is a multidimensional phenomenon, this REA focuses on the poverty impacts of business environment reforms in terms of increasing incomes and employment. Any variations to this are identified in the discussion.

The evidence confirms that the links between business environment reform (BER) and poverty reduction are not direct. No studies were found that attempt to present evidence of a *direct* link between BER and poverty reduction. Instead, there is evidence on the links or channels through which BER has been found to indirectly *contribute* to poverty reduction.

Of the 176 studies initially found through the document search, 89 were selected for quality assessment based on their relevance to the research question and were subsequently found to be of High or Medium Quality. The review was particularly interested in evidence from DIFD's list of Priority Countries (see Table 1, Appendix 1), which represented 26 per cent of the papers, with 61 per cent providing evidence from other low- and middle-income countries and 13 per cent from other countries. The overall quality of the evidence reviewed is considered to be High. The size of the body of evidence is considered to be Medium-to-High and it is moderately Consistent. Thus, on the balance of these factors, there is a Medium body of evidence connecting BER indirectly with poverty.

#### BER AND FIRM BEHAVIOUR

Two causal links were explored to examine the means through which BER affects poverty. In the first, BER is considered to directly affect the decisions made by businesspeople leading to increased firm investment. Fifty-four studies were found to address these links. These studies deal with the manner in which BER has affected firm behaviour, such as through registering their business, obtaining a license, registering for tax, dealing with labour laws, and land titling.

Reforms that **simplified business registration and licensing procedures**, reduced the time and cost associated with registration and licensing, but did not significantly impact on unregistered and unlicensed firms. While 12 studies confirmed a positive link between registration and firm performance, reforms were generally not instrumental in encouraging informal enterprise to formalise. One of the reasons for this may be a concern for the tax implications of business registration.

Reform of the **tax system** is a major field of BER that aims to make tax administration more transparent and efficient. Here again, the evidence presented by 11 studies is consistent in positively linking tax registration and payment with firm performance. Reforms in this field have led to an increase in the number of firms that register for tax. However, despite the recognised benefits of formalisation, many firms choose to operate informally in order to avoid the perceived burdens and costs associated with formality.

i

Because more and better-paid employment is critical to lifting people out of poverty, the role of labour-related BER has been given significant attention. There is strong and consistent evidence presented by the 12 studies assessed that **labour-related BER** affects the decisions of business owners and impacts on poor workers in different ways. However, while all studies identified the increase in costs associated with reforms that strengthen employment protection, not all agree that these costs are negative. The employment effects of increased employment protection vary according to firm size and can reduce the employment opportunities available to young and inexperienced workers.

Nineteen studies were found to consistently confirm an association between property rights and economic growth. Reforms that improve the security of land tenure through **land titling and administration reform** do increase firm-level investment. These reforms increase the likelihood that investments made today can be realised tomorrow, facilitate a more dynamic land market and increase the attractiveness of further investments necessary for broadbased economic growth. However, there is little evidence to link land-titling reform with increased access to credit, as it is often claimed, as there are other factors that affect the performance of financial markets.

#### BER AND ECONOMIC GROWTH

The second causal link explored examined the evidence on how BER affects economic growth. Twelve studies were found to address this. Researchers are careful about making these outcome claims and while there is strong and consistent evidence on the positive association between the quality of business regulation and economic growth, there is little evidence found that confidently asserts the relationship between BER and economic growth. This is largely due to the wide range of other factors that also affect this relationship.

Many factors come into play when aggregate investment and employment is considered. Unlocking the potential for economic growth certainly requires reform of the businesses environment, but it is likely to require other interventions such as access to finance, improvements in infrastructure, etc. The 'binding constraints' to economic growth are likely to be found in the BE, but also in other areas. Addressing only one element is clearly not enough.

#### POTENTIAL SUCCESS FACTORS: HOW REFORM AFFECTS LEVELS OF POVERTY

Drawing from the evidence reviewed, this section provides a brief overview of the potential success factors for BER that is designed to reduce poverty in developing economies.

- Integrate BER with macro-economic reforms a key factor in realising the benefits of macro-reforms is to ensure BER is closely integrated with these programmes.
- Complement reforms with support interventions attention should be given to issues such as access to finance and information, as well as to labour productivity.
- Pay attention to the BE barriers faced by women women may not fully benefit from BER in the same way men are and reforms need to be designed, managed and monitored in a gender-sensitive manner.

- Formulate country and culture-specific reforms there is a clear need for country and culture-specific approaches to BER in which donors take a long-term view, seeking to build consensus among stakeholders in order to ensure that reforms are viewed as legitimate.
- Broaden the scope of desired impact broaden the scope of impacts that are analysed and include social indicators so as to take into account non-business stakeholders.

#### **CONTENTS**

List of abbreviations	i
Executive summary	i
BER and firm behaviour	i
BER and economic growth	ii
Potential success factors: How reform affects levels of poverty	ii
1.0 Introduction	3
1.1 Conceptual framework	3
1.2 Report structure	7
2.0 Methodology	8
Step 1: Search	8
Step 2: Applying exclusion criteria to the results	8
Step 3: Classification of studies	9
Step 4: Quality assessment	10
Step 5: Synthesis and assessment of the body of evidence	11
Limitations	13
3.0 The Evidence Map	14
4.0 Main findings	16
4.1 BER and firm behaviour	17
4.1.1 Simplification of business registration and licensing procedures	17
4.1.2 Tax policies and administration reform	20
4.1.3 Improvement of labour laws and administration systems	22
4.1.4 Land titles, registers and administration reform	26
4.1.5 Overall body of evidence on BER and firm behaviour	29
4.2 Firm behaviour and aggregate economic effects	30
5.0 Conclusions	34
5.1 The state of play	34
5.2 Potential success factors: How reform affects levels of poverty	35

#### Business Environment Reform and Poverty: Rapid Evidence Assessment

5.3 Further research	35
References	37
Appendix 1: Methodology notes	50
Appendix 2: Quality assessments	51
Appendix 3: Search results	55

#### 1.0 INTRODUCTION

There has been enormous growth in the amount of literature dealing with the practices and procedures of business environment reform (BER) in recent years, as well as with measuring the outcomes and impacts of these reforms. Increasingly, bilateral and multilateral agencies that support private sector development (PSD) ensure that these programmes contain a component that deals with improvements to the business environment (BE) or investment climate (IC).

BE and IC issues have been recognised as containing critical elements that affect the performance of private enterprises in both the formal and informal economies of developing and transition countries. Reforms in these areas endeavour to promote the development of markets that encourage competition and enhance the effectiveness and sustainability of other development interventions. Indeed, many agencies consider a conducive BE as one of the pre-requisites for economic growth and poverty reduction. For example, a recent evaluation of the World Bank's support for investment climate reform (ICR), the Bank's Independent Evaluation Group (IEG) describes how private firms are at the forefront of the development process providing more than 90 per cent of jobs, supplying goods and services, and representing a significant source of tax revenues. Their "ability to grow, create jobs, and reduce poverty depends critically on a well-functioning investment climate defined as the policy, legal and institutional arrangements underpinning the functioning of markets and the level of transaction costs and risks associated with starting, operating and closing a business" (IEG 2015; ix).

While there are many effects of BER that can be assessed, this REA focuses on the following research question: What is the evidence on the direct impact of business environment reforms on poverty? This is one of two REAs commissioned on the subject of BER. The other study focuses on the evidence of the links between BER and investment and the effectiveness of BER and investment facilitation and promotion. This REA seeks to better understand the direct impact of BER on poverty. To comprehend these dynamics and to isolate the factors at work, a conceptual framework was formulated.

#### 1.1 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

There are a wide variety of terms used by the development, donor and research community working in PSD and investment promotion. In 2008, the Donor Committee for Enterprise Development (DCED), of which DFID is an active member, published guidelines on this topic

3

The United Kingdom's Department for International Development (DFID) commissioned this Rapid Evidence Assessment (REA) into the effects of BER in order to gain a better understanding of what the published evidence says in this field. The UK Government describes a REA as "a tool for getting on top of the available research evidence on a policy issue, as comprehensively as possible, within the constraints of a given timetable". REAs "provide a balanced assessment of what is already known about a policy or practice issue, by using systematic review methods to search and critically appraise existing research". Such assessments aim to be systematic, rigorous and explicit, while making concessions to the breadth or depth of the process by limiting particular aspects of the systematic review process (UK Government 2014).

See White and Fortune (forthcoming), DFID, London

that sought to create a more precise set of definitions that could be used to demarcate the field. The DCED (2008; 2) defines the 'business environment' as a "complex of policy, legal, institutional, and regulatory conditions that govern business activities. It is a sub-set of the investment climate and includes the administration and enforcement mechanisms established to implement government policy, as well as the institutional arrangements that influence the way key actors operate (e.g., government agencies, regulatory authorities and business membership organisations, civil society organisations, trade unions, etc.)". Applying this definition, the BE has been treated as a sub-set of the IC. However, the term 'investment climate' has raised definitional problems for some time. For the purpose of this assessment of the evidence, the DCED definition outlined above was adopted, while recognising that some authors may refer to the investment climate when describing some or all of these elements.

BER typically focuses on specific 'functional areas' (DCED 2005), such as:

- Simplifying business registration and licensing procedures;
- Improving tax policies and administration;
- Improving labour laws and administration;
- Improving the overall quality of regulatory governance;
- Improving land titles, registers and administration;
- Simplifying and speeding up access to commercial courts and to alternative dispute resolution mechanisms;
- Broadening public-private dialogue processes with a particular focus on including informal operators, especially women;
- Improving access to market information; and
- Enabling better access to finance.

BER is supported by donor and development agencies and undertaken by government because of the significant influence the business environment has on the development of the private sector and therefore "on economic growth and the generation of livelihoods and jobs" (DCED 2008; 3-4). Reforms to the BE are undertaken so that businesses are able to change their behaviours in ways that lead to increased levels of investment and innovation and the creation of more and better jobs.<sup>4</sup> This is done by:

Reducing business costs. By reducing business costs firms are able to increase profits so that these may be further invested to increase market share so that output and employment is increased;

\_

The World Development Report 2005 defined the IC as "the set of location-specific factors shaping the opportunities and incentives for firms to invest productively, create jobs, and expand" (World Bank 2004). However, this year, the Bank's Independent Evaluation Group (IEG 2015; 23) defined the IC as "the support for policy, legal, and institutional reforms intended to improve the functioning of markets and reduce transaction costs and risks associated with starting, operating and closing a business in the World Bank Group's client countries" (p. 23). This definition appears to be more closely aligned to the DCED 2005 definition of the business environment.

This definition is consistent with that used by IEG (2015) and OECD (2006).

- Reducing risks and uncertainty. The risks of doing business are reduced by improving
  the quality and stability of government policies, laws and regulations in order to
  reduce the cost of capital and increase the number of attractive investments in the
  market; and
- Increasing competitive pressures. Firms become more competitive by making market entry easier and by stimulating the efficiency and innovating incentives of the market.

Turning, then, to the research question: developing-country governments were found to undertake BER, with support from donor and development agencies, because of the anticipated impact these reforms will have on poverty and other development goals. It is the nature of the relationship between reform and poverty that requires investigation and a clear analytical framework against which the available evidence can be assessed.

In the first instance, it appears clear that the impact BER has on poverty has rarely been presented as a direct one. Most donor and development agencies that support BER suggest that there are a number of links involved in connecting reform with poverty. The *World Development Report 2005* presents a case for the central role of IC reform to growth and poverty reduction and provides a detailed analysis of the transmission mechanisms from IC changes to growth and poverty reduction. More recently, the DCED has formulated a 'Framework for Evidence' on how PSD leads to pro-poor impacts, which also lays out a series of causal links between reform and its effect on poor women and men.<sup>5</sup> Thus, while most agencies have not espoused a formal theory of change that describes how reform *directly* affects poverty, there are a number of causal links that have been put forward, which argue a more indirect impact. These links are discussed below and have been used to frame the focus and scope of the rapid assessment.

#### CAUSAL LINK 1: BER AND FIRM BEHAVIOUR

In the first causal link between BER and poverty reduction, BER is seen as influencing the behaviour of firms by inducing them to increase investment in a manner that leads to increased employment and the upgrading of plant and equipment, including new technology. Reforms make it easier for firms to increase their share of the market and move into new markets. This encourages firms to invest more and expand their market share. Through this process they become more likely to innovate and become more productive.

The DCED (2015) has described how reforms are typically designed to bring about one or several of the following three *direct* results:

- More firms are encouraged to start-up or register as formal businesses, for example as a result of simplified business registration procedures or tax incentives.
- Firms invest more following the improvement of legislative or regulatory frameworks, or otherwise change their behaviour in ways that are conducive to their business.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For more information see DCED (2015)

Business Environment Reform and Poverty: Rapid Evidence Assessment

 Firms directly increase their sales/turnover or net income, for example through the removal of trade barriers or savings from more efficient licensing and inspections processes.

In addition, increases in firm turnover or profit can be the outcome of one of the following scenarios:

- Formalisation enables businesses to grow in turnover or profit;
- A change in firm behaviour, for example the use of new legal opportunities that allow firms to save money, leads to increased turnover or profit;
- Formalisation allows businesses to become more productive, for example by gaining access to government services, which in turn increases profitability; and
- A change in firm behaviour, such as the investment in new technologies, leads to greater productivity, which in turn increases profitability.

When a business is started, there is a direct and positive impact on employment at the firm level, at the minimum for the entrepreneur him or herself. Moreover, expected or actual increases in firm turnover or profit as a result of business environment reforms can lead firms to expand and employ more people.

#### CAUSAL LINK 2: FIRM BEHAVIOUR AND AGGREGATE ECONOMIC EFFECTS

These changes in individual firm behaviour have a broader impact across the economy. The aggregate effect of firm investment leads to economy-wide outcomes, such as higher levels of private investment and increased competitive pressures. These effects lead to increases in economic growth, as measured, for example, by increases in the rate of growth of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP).

In terms of the impact on poverty, the effect of BER on economic growth is seen as contributing to poverty reduction. The links between economic growth and poverty reduction occupies a broad body of literature and goes beyond the scope of this study. However, economic growth is considered an essential prerequisite for poverty reduction. Thus, BER that stimulates growth can have a significant impact on the reduction in poverty. The World Bank's (2004) *World Development Report 2005* argues the rationale for World Bank Group engagement in investment climate activities, which it says rests in the understanding that support to investment climate reforms is an integral part of the Group's efforts to eliminate extreme poverty and boost shared prosperity. A critical element in this dynamic is the complementary role that growth and employment play. The International Labour Organization (ILO 2014) argues, for example, that people who have overcome poverty identify 'finding a paid job' or 'starting a business' as the two most important reasons for this change.

The figure below illustrates these causal linkages, which become the subject of analysis as the evidence that exist between BER and poverty is assessed.

Figure 1: Impact Chain — BER and Poverty Reduction

# INCREASED ENTERPRISE INVESTMENTS AND INNOVATION TO BER AND FIRM BEHAVIOUR INCREASED TURNOVER — INCREASED PROFIT — INCREASED FIRM REGISTRATION

1

**REDUCED BUSINESS RISKS** 

↑
IMPROVED BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

1

INCREASED COMPETITION

1

7

FIRM BEHAVIOUR AND AGGREGATE ECONOMIC EFFECTS

#### 1.2 REPORT STRUCTURE

1

**REDUCED BUSINESS** 

COSTS

This report is structured in the following way: Chapter 2 describes the methodology. It outlines the procedures involved in the search for studies, the application of exclusion and inclusion criteria, the classification of studies, quality assessment and the final synthesis and assessment of the body of evidence. More details on the results of this process are presented in the appendices.

Chapter 3 presents an overview of the body of evidence. It maps the evidence and rates the quality of studies. Chapter 4 presents the findings. It outlines what the evidence says with respect to the effects and impacts of BER. Chapter 5 provides concluding comments and recommendations.

#### 2.0 METHODOLOGY

This rapid assessment followed a systemic process of search and assessment, which is broadly outlined in the DFID (2014) *How To Note*. There were five stages of this assessment:

- 1. Document search;
- 2. Application of exclusion criteria to narrow the search results;
- 3. Classification of studies;
- 4. Quality assessment; and
- 5. Synthesis and assessment of the body of evidence.

The details of these steps are described below.

#### STEP 1: SEARCH

An initial series of Internet searches were used to identify studies that appeared relevant to the research question. These searches were conducted using a variety of search engines and used a specific set of search phrases (see Appendix 1). In the first instance, two databases were searched: Scopus and JSTOR. These databases were selected because they were considered to provide access to academic research that had been published by reputable journals and publications.

In addition, searches were conducted of a number of institutional websites and databases that were deemed to be relevant to the research question. The sites included in these searches were: DCED, DFID, International Alert, International Initiative for Impact Evaluation, Monitoring and Evaluation News, United States Agency for International Development, Microlinks, ILO, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), Brookings World Poverty Institute at Manchester University, and the World Bank and International Finance Corporation (IFC).

A series of broader searches were conducted using Google and Google Scholar. These searches were conducted as a final sweep of possible studies that may not have been found in the previous searches. The search in each site involved a series of common search phrases that were designed to locate studies that would address all or part of the research question (see Appendix 3).

In addition, a 'snowball technique' and manual search of possible leads was undertaken to identify studies that had not been found through the specific search phrases outlined above. This was found necessary to ensure a reasonable sampling of the relevant research.

#### STEP 2: APPLYING EXCLUSION CRITERIA TO THE RESULTS

The second step involved an initial filtering of the studies identified in Step 1 through the application of specific inclusion and exclusion criteria. In some cases, depending on the capabilities of the search engine, these inclusions and exclusions were applied during the search process. In other cases this was done after the search was completed. The following studies were excluded from the search results:

Business Environment Reform and Poverty: Rapid Evidence Assessment

- Studies published before 2000 (i.e., more than 15 years old);
- Studies based solely on a conceptual thesis (i.e., lacking a clear evidence-based design) and not based upon a solid research foundation; and
- Studies in a language other than English.

Following the application of the above exclusions, a second set of criteria was applied dealing with the geographical coverage of the studies:

- 1. Include studies covering DFID's 28 priority countries (see Appendix 1);
- Because the evidence base returned from the above search was too limited, studies covering BER in low and lower-middle income countries generally were included; and
- 3. Because the evidence base returned from the above search again was too limited, studies on BER in high-income countries containing transferable lessons for BER in DFID's priority countries were included.

As implied by the above procedure, this evidence assessment focused primarily on published studies. However, there were occasions where the search process unearthed so-called 'grey literature' or unpublished studies or work in progress. In instances where these studies met the above criteria, such studies were included in the classification and assessment procedures outlined below.

#### STEP 3: CLASSIFICATION OF STUDIES

The studies that were collected through Steps 1 and 2 were then appraised to assess their applicability to the research question. This appraisal sought to classify the studies according to the following factors:

- Geographical coverage: studies were classified into three categories: DFID Priority Countries, Other Low— and Medium-Income Countries, and Other Countries (i.e., those dealing with developed economies, but with findings that appeared relevant to developing economies).
- Type of reform covered: studies were reviewed to identify which elements of BER they address. This would range from a general coverage of BER to coverage that focused on a specific element, such as business licensing, tax administration and trade.
- Type of study: three classifications of studies were delineated: Primary Studies, Secondary Studies, and Theoretical Studies.<sup>6</sup>
- Study design: this classification sought to identify the nature of the study (e.g., non-experimental, experimental or quasi-experimental studies, macro-level analysis or firm-level surveys, single country analysis or cross-country comparisons).<sup>7</sup>

Primary research studies empirically observe a phenomenon at first hand, collecting, analysing or presenting 'raw' data; Secondary review studies interrogate primary research studies, summarising and interrogating their data and findings; Theoretical or conceptual studies: most studies (primary and secondary) include some discussion of theory, but some focus almost exclusively on the construction of new theories rather than generating, or synthesising empirical data (DFID 2014).

- Number of cases: studies were reviewed to determine the number of cases from which data was drawn. This included country case studies where one or more countries were investigated and compared, as well as the number of firms surveyed in a study. This information was used in Step 4.
- Relevance to the research question: finally, the studies were reviewed to determine the extent to which they addressed the research question.

Based on the results of this classification process, an assessment was made as to which studies would be excluded and which would move on to the next level of assessment. This decision was based on the following:

- Type of study: Primary (P) and Secondary (S) Studies only would be included in the next level of assessment. Theoretical Studies (T) do not provide new evidence that would shed light on the research question and were excluded. However, some Theoretical Studies were examined in order to determine whether or not they contained references to other literature that may be relevant to the study.
- Relevance to the research question: only those studies that provided evidence of relevance to the research question were selected for the next level of review. There were a significant number of studies that referred BER and poverty, but did not provide evidence on the link between the two. On this basis, these studies were excluded from further assessment.

While in some cases it was possible to make these assessments using study abstracts, in the majority of cases the full studies were obtained and reviewed.

#### STEP 4: QUALITY ASSESSMENT

Each of the studies classified for inclusion in Step 3 were then assessed for quality in order to ensure the study is relevant and that its findings are reliable. Drawing from DFID's How To Note, the following criteria were selected for assessing the quality of the research presented in each study:

- Conceptual framing: Does the study acknowledge existing research? Does the study construct a conceptual framework? Does the study pose a research question or outline a hypothesis?
- Appropriateness: Does the study identify a research design? Does the study identify a research method? Does the study demonstrate why the chosen design and method are well suited to the research question?
- Transparency: Does the study present or link to the raw data it analyses? What is the geography/context in which the study was conducted? Does the study declare sources of support/funding?8

For full details, refer to DFID (2014).

Research that is funded by an agency, such as DFID or the World Bank, may be considered transparent, but the neutrality of the study may be questioned.

Reliability: To what extent are the measures used in the study stable? To what
extent are the measures used in the study internally reliable? To what extent are the
findings likely to be sensitive/changeable depending on the analytical technique
used?

Each study was assessed on the above four criteria using a score of 0-5, where high scores are attributed to better performance. Thus, each paper was given a final quality score out of a maximum score of 20 for a well-designed and conducted research study. The results of the above scoring were captured by the classification of each study into three categories. See the table below.

Table 1: Classification of individual study quality

Quality Classification	Score Range
High Quality [↑]	14-20
Medium Quality $[ ightarrow]$	7-13
Low Quality $[\downarrow]$	0-6

#### STEP 5: SYNTHESIS AND ASSESSMENT OF THE BODY OF EVIDENCE

The final step in the process of evidence assessment was to consider the overall body of evidence and how it addresses the research question. This includes an assessment of its quality, size, context, and consistency.

As the quality of each study was assessed in Step 4, above, this step involves an assessment of the overall quality of the studies reviewed. This requires a consolidated assessment of all individual studies to determine whether, as a whole, they are:

- High Quality: This is where many or a large majority of the studies reviewed are considered to be of a high quality, demonstrating adherence to the principles of research quality.
- Moderate Quality: This is where approximately half of the studies reviewed are of a moderate quality, as assessed according to the principles of research quality.
- Low Quality: This is where many or a large majority of the studies reviewed are considered to be of a low quality, showing significant deficiencies in adherence to the principles of quality.

The size of the body of evidence involves an assessment of the number of studies that address the research question and the extent to which the findings of one study have been replicated or corroborated by others. Table 2, below, provides the thresholds for determining the size of the body of evidence and classifying this as Large, Medium or Small.

Table 2: Body of evidence; size thresholds

Number of Studies	Size category
1 to 39	Small
40 to 79	Medium
80 or more	High

The context of the body of evidence refers to its specificity. While some evidence relates to a highly specific set of countries or reforms, others may have a more global benefit. Ideally, there is a convincing body of evidence on the relationship between BER and poverty both globally and in the context of particular interest.

Finally, the consistency of the body of evidence is measured. The table below defines the manner in which the body of evidence can be classified as Consistent, Inconsistent or Mixed.

**Table 3: Consistency categories** 

Consistency	Definition
Consistent	A range of studies point to identical, or similar conclusions.
Inconsistent	One study or more directly refutes or contest the findings of another study or studies carried out in the same context or under the same conditions.
Mixed	Studies based on a variety of different designs or methods, applied in a range of contexts, have produced results that contrast with those of another study.

SOURCE: DFID (2014) Assessing the Strength of Evidence; How to Note, March, DFID, London, p. 18

Finally, the strength of the body of evidence is synthesised using the four dimensions described above in order to classify the evidence into one of five categories:

- Very Strong Evidence: Where there is a high quality body of evidence, large in size, consistent, and contextually relevant.
- Strong Evidence: Where there is a high quality body of evidence, large or medium in size, highly or moderately consistent, and contextually relevant.
- Medium Evidence: Where there are moderate quality studies, medium size evidence body, and moderate level of consistency. Studies may or may not be contextually relevant.
- Limited Evidence: Where the quality of the studies is deemed to be moderate-tolow, medium size evidence body, low levels of consistency. Studies may or may not be contextually relevant.
- No Evidence: Where there are few or no studies that address the research question.

This synthesis and assessment leads to a review of the research question and the conceptual framework used to describe the nature and context of the question. The collated evidence is then organised based on the conceptual framework, which is refined if necessary. Here the patterns in the data are explored and the overall findings are synthesised, checking for quality, sensitivity, coherence, and relevance. Chapter 3 provides the results of this analysis.

#### **LIMITATIONS**

The REA, as outlined in DFID (2014), applies a rigid, structured method of document identification and assessment. This is designed to rapidly cover a wide range of literature in order to assess the quality, consistency and strength of the evidence available to answer the research question. In applying the specified search phrases and protocols described above, this assessment is reliant upon the efficacy of the search engines employed for this purpose. To address this limitation, a number of search engines were used and a wide range of search phrases applied in order to spread a broad net. While the strict application of the REA search does not allow for the collection of any study identified outside of the defined protocol for fear this would bias the results, a 'snowball technique' was undertaken in the latter stages of the assessment, along with a series of specific, manual searches. This helped to identify a broader range of studies that would otherwise have been overlooked. However, the evidence presented here is not a broader review of the literature. Instead, it is the result of the application of a structured procedure for identifying and assessing evidence found through publicly available search engines using an objective and logical framework.

#### 3.0 THE EVIDENCE MAP

This chapter provides a general overview of the nature of the evidence found on how BER directly affects poverty. The evidence is mapped and the initial classification of the identified studies is presented, including the results of the quality assessment and the overall results this has on the body of evidence that deals with this research question.

The search for studies produced an initial collection of 176 studies. These studies were then classified based on their geographic coverage and study type. The most relevant of these were selected for quality assessment. The table below presents an overview of the number of studies falling within these categories.

Table 4: Summary of studies identified and classified

Total studies identified in sea	rch:	176	
Studies rejected as immediately irrelevant:		7	
	Study Type	No. of Studies	No. Selected for QA
DFID Priority Countries	Primary [P]	24	12
	Secondary [S]	21	11
	Theoretical [T]	12	0
	Sub-Total	57	23
Low- and Medium Income Countries	Primary [P]	32	32
	Secondary [S]	32	22
	Theoretical [T]	35	0
	Sub-Total	99	54
Other Countries	Primary [P]	5	5
	Secondary [S]	8	7
	Theoretical [T]	7	0
	Sub-Total	20	12
	TOTALS	176	89

As the above table illustrates, 85 studies identified through the search procedure were not selected for quality assessment. This is primarily because they did not provide evidence that was relevant to the research question or because, as in the case of papers found to be Theoretical Studies, did not present any new evidence.

When examining the body of evidence assessed for this research question, the quality, size, context and consistency of the collection of studies were considered.

A total of 89 studies were assessed for quality using the four criteria described in Chapter 2, i.e., conceptual framing, appropriateness, transparency, and reliability. Of these, 65 were considered to be High Quality, i.e., with a score ranging from 14 to 20, and 24 were

considered to be Medium Quality, i.e., with a score ranging from 7 to 13. See Table 1, Appendix 2. On this basis, the **quality of the body of evidence** is judged to be High.

With 89 High and Medium Quality studies found, the overall size of the evidence is quite good. The total number of studies over the last 15 years that were found to address the research question were scattered over the world, with some countries getting significantly more attention than others. Thus, the **size of the body of evidence** is judged to be Medium-to-High, based on the thresholds presented in the previous chapter.

The **context of the evidence reviewed is broad**. Tables 2 and 3 in Appendix 2 provide an overview on the distribution of the evidence reviewed. These provide an overview of the studies that specifically focused on the three country categories. Overall, 26 per cent of the studies focused on Priority Countries, 61 per cent on Low-Income and Medium Countries, and 13 per cent on Other Countries.

The evidence overall was fairly consistent in that there was little evidence found that directly contradicted other studies. However, the evidence is also somewhat fragmented in that there were few examples of repeat studies designed to confirm other studies. In many cases, the evidence was spread across a range of BER concerns. Based on the table presented in Chapter 2, the consistency of the body of evidence is estimated to be moderately Consistent.<sup>9</sup>

In summary, roughly half of studies were selected from the initial search results based on their relevance to the research question. Seventy-three per cent were considered to be High Quality. Thus, the overall quality is considered to be High. The size of the body of evidence is considered to be Medium-to-High and its consistency is moderately Consistent. Thus, on the balance of these factors, there is a **Medium Body of Evidence** connecting BER with poverty.

\_

That is, the "range of studies point to identical, or similar conclusions" (DFID 2014).

#### 4.0 MAIN FINDINGS

In Chapter 1, a conceptual framework for understanding the theory of change in respect of BER and poverty reduction was constructed. This was informed by various agency rationales and strategies for supporting BER in developing economies. Using the evidence collated and reviewed for this assessment, the conceptual framework is applied in order to establish what the evidence says.

As indicated in the conceptual overview, the links between BER and poverty reduction are not direct. This has been borne out in the search for evidence, which has been unable to locate a single study that attempts to present evidence of a *direct* link between BER and poverty reduction. Instead, there is evidence on the links or channels through which BER has been found to *contribute* to poverty reduction. Fifty-four studies were found to address the issues contained in the first level of the causal impact change. These studies deal with the manner in which BER has affected firm behaviour, such as through registering their business, obtaining a license or registering for tax. Twelve studies were found to address the second level of impact, dealing with the effect of BER on the broader economy. These findings are presented in the sections that follow.

The links between economic growth and poverty reduction occupies a broad body of literature and goes beyond the scope of this study. However, there is strong evidence to show how broad economic reforms indirectly spur growth and lead to poverty reduction. <sup>10</sup> The extent to which BER has been found to contribute to poverty reducing outcomes (i.e., the first to causal links) is discussed in the remainder of this report.

Poverty is a multidimensional phenomenon that goes beyond simple measures of income and consumption (see OECD 2001, 2013). However, this review of the evidence has sought a definition that is connected with the main focus of BER: increasing investment (first causal link) and economic growth (second causal link). Thus, it has focused on income and employment indicators. Within this context the overall effect of increased income on poverty levels is relevant, such as the proportion of the population living on less than one US dollar a day. The problem is that not all studies examining this question employ the same definition. For example, Berg and Kreuger (2003 S $\uparrow$ ) examined the per capita income, while Minot & Goletti (2000 S $\uparrow$ ) and Dollar (2002 S $\rightarrow$ ) focused on per capita calorific intake, and Topolova (2010 S $\uparrow$ ) considered wider household characteristics. Despite this variation, most

<sup>1</sup> 

This REA identified seven High and Medium Quality studies that specifically addressed this topic. Besley and Cord (2007 S $^{\uparrow}$ ) and World Bank (2005 S $^{\rightarrow}$ ) present cross-country data that links economic growth with the speed of poverty reduction and pro-poor effects. While these and many other studies confirm that broad-based growth is critical to accelerating poverty reduction, they also acknowledge that income inequality effects the pace at which growth reduces poverty. Other national, macro-level studies show broad economic reforms have reduced poverty, such as in Vietnam (Dollar 2002 S $^{\rightarrow}$  and Schaumburg-Müller 2005 S $^{\rightarrow}$ ) and India (Bhanumurthy and Mitra 2004 P $^{\uparrow}$ , Topoleva 2010 S $^{\uparrow}$ ). At the micro-level, the relationship is less clear: Beck and Demirgüç-Kunt (2004 S $^{\rightarrow}$ ) explore cross-country evidence of the relationship between the size of the small and medium enterprise (SME) sector and economic growth and poverty reduction and find that SMEs do not cause economic growth or reduce poverty. They do provide qualified evidence that an effective BE causes growth, although the results do not show that a good BE has an effect on poverty reduction beyond its positive effect on GDP per capita growth.

of the evidence dealing with the effect BER has on poverty, via the outcomes examined below. Thus, this REA focuses on the poverty impacts of BER in terms of increasing incomes and employment. Any variations to this are identified in the discussion.

#### 4.1 BER AND FIRM BEHAVIOUR

The first causal link, presented in Chapter 1, focuses on the manner in which BER influences the behaviour of firms. Through reforms that reduce compliance costs and risks, and remove barriers to market entry, firms change their behaviour by increasing their levels of investment, expanding their share of the market and becoming more productive. These improvements in firm performance contribute to increased incomes and employment for business owners and their workers.

The evidence that deals with these reforms covers four areas:

- Simplification of business registration and licensing procedures;
- Tax policies and administration reform;
- Improvement of labour laws and administration systems; and
- Land titles, registers and administration reform.

Not all studies treat these reforms as part of a recognised BER programme. While improvements to business registration and licensing are a common BER issue, tax, labour and land reform can often have a different focus in the literature. Indeed, tax, labour and land reform are extremely broad fields, containing a wide range of literature, which is referred to below where relevant. This REA has sought to identify the range of evidence available within each of these fields and to distil the key empirical findings, while directing the reader to other publications that provide a fuller review of the evidence.

### 4.1.1 SIMPLIFICATION OF BUSINESS REGISTRATION AND LICENSING PROCEDURES

The most direct and compelling evidence on this topic examines the impact of business and licensing reforms on firm behaviour. Seven High Quality studies examined business registration and licensing reforms in Mexico, Peru and Uganda. This evidence shows an impact of these reforms on firm investment as measured by the increasing number of firms that use the new, simplified systems, although the scale of this impact is generally small.

• In an evaluation of an IFC project designed to reform the administrative process for obtaining a business license in one of the 44 districts of metropolitan Lima, Warner (2012 P↑) confirmed the results of two other evaluations, including Fajnzylber and Montes-Rojas (2011 S↑) and Monteiro and Assunção (2012 S↑). They found that license simplification and cost reductions in Peru did in fact lead to greater registration. These reforms reduced costs and procedures, which in turn led to an increase in registrations. However, there was no evidence this led to higher average revenues, profits per worker or employment.

- In Mexico Bruhn (2011 P↑) studied the impact of a business registration reform programme, known as the Rapid Business Opening System. The simplified local business registration procedures reduced the time required to register an enterprise at the municipal level from 30 to two days. Her analysis of national employment survey data across different municipalities shows that the reform increased the number of formal business owners by only five per cent. Kaplan, et.al., (2011 P↑) confirm this. Most of the businesses using the new system were owned by people who were formally waged employees, while informal businesses tended to remain inform, i.e., unregistered. In a later study, Bruhn (2013 P↑) finds these reforms had little impact on formalisation, but did encourage former wage earners to open new formal businesses, which freed up wage jobs and creating additional formal jobs.
- In an assessment of a trade licensing reform programme in Entebbe, Uganda, Ellis, et.al., (2006 S<sup>↑</sup>) report that this reform reduced time spent on registering a business by 90 per cent and compliance costs by 75 per cent, while local revenue collection increased by 40 per cent. The effect on enterprise performance was not assessed. They found that women respond well to simplified, speedy procedures and will come into compliance once it becomes feasible for them to do so.

Bruhn and McKenzie (2013 S $\rightarrow$ ) review the randomised and non-experimental studies dealing with the causal effect of policies to promote firm formalisation. They found that efforts to lower the cost of registration and simplify the registration process did not affect small informal enterprises. Most informal firms are "making what is a privately optimal decision" to remain unregistered. Reforms in this field lower the cost and complexity of business registration and licensing, which is an important, but not sufficient, step toward increasing firm investment. Thus, improving business licensing and registration does not appear to work as a strategy for formalisation, at least in terms of the number of businesses registered and licensed. This was reported by Warner (2012 P $\uparrow$ ), Fajnzylber and Montes-Rojas (2011 S $\uparrow$ ), Monteiro and Assunção (2012 S $\uparrow$ ), Bruhn (2011 P $\uparrow$ ), cited above. The IFC (2013; 46 S $\rightarrow$ ) suggest that other efforts are needed to bolster the intended outcomes of business registration and licensing reform: "business entry reforms work best when complemented with other investment climate reforms".

The other evidence draws from six High Quality studies that examine the link between business performance and registration and licensing. This evidence is not based on reforms, but on the associations found between registration and investment, as measured by firm performance (e.g., increasing sales, profits or employment levels).

• In Sri Lanka De Mel, et.al., (2012 P↑) show how firms become formal as the benefits related to registration increase. In a field experiment it was found that simply reimbursing the direct costs of registration had no effect on formalisation. Yet, 20 per cent of firms registered when offered an amount equivalent to between one-half and one month of the median firm's profits, and 47 per cent registered when offered payments corresponding to two months of the median firm's profits. In follow-up surveys, firms that formalised were found to have higher profits. However,

- this result was driven by a few fast-growing firms. Formalising was found to have no effect on the profits of the majority of firms.
- Boly (2015a S<sup>↑</sup>) surveyed 2,500 firms in Vietnam to investigate the process of firm formalisation. His results show that becoming formal leads to an increase in profits, value added and revenue, in total amount or per employee. Formalisation was also found to be beneficial for firms, irrespective of their size. While the benefits of formalisation were found to materialise in the short term, they also persisted over time. The benefits of formalisation run through better access to improved equipment, a larger customer base, advertising, and business association membership; interestingly, not through improved access to credit.
- Deininger, et.al., (2007 P↑) present the case of Sri Lanka's rural non-farm business sector surveying 1,327 rural enterprises and 1,046 households. Although regulatory constraints are not mentioned as a key concern by existing enterprises, they find the "time needed to complete company registration, the only variable which one would expect to affect start-ups differently from existing enterprises", is indeed "significant and negative". Thus, if the registration process could be simplified by reducing time taken to complete registration from the current level of 19 days to four days, "the probability for an average rural household to start-up a new enterprise would be 1.5 per cent higher".
- McCulloch, et.al., (2010 S↑) use data from the Indonesian Rural Investment Climate Survey of non-farm household enterprises, conducted in six districts in 2006. Comparing between informal and formal firms (i.e., those with at least one local business license, they find that licensing does provide advantages in terms of reduced tax and corruption payments.
- Ellis, et.al., (2007 S↑) find that women in Kenya face more severe legal, regulatory, and administrative barriers to starting and running businesses than do their male counterparts and that reducing these would disproportionately benefit women.

#### STRENGTH OF THE EVIDENCE

There were 12 studies that provide evidence on how reforms that simplify business registration and licensing procedures affect firm behaviour (see Table 4, Appendix 2). Seven of these are High Quality studies that assessed the actual impact of reforms, while the other five High and Medium Quality studies found an association between registration and formalisation. Overall, there is strong evidence to suggest that the anticipated benefits of business registration and licensing reform are often overstated. These reforms have not had a significant impact on the formalisation of informal firms. While such reforms have some impact on the decisions of business owners to register, there are other considerations and influences that affect the scale of impact of these reforms. The issue of tax reform and tax registration, discussed below, may be relevant in this regard.

#### 4.1.2 TAX POLICIES AND ADMINISTRATION REFORM

Tax-related BER has also been found to influence firm behaviour. There are a number of dimensions to these kinds of reforms. This includes taxes on individuals (i.e., salaries, earnings), business, value-added tax (VAT), imports and exports, as well as taxes applied to specific business activities or sectors. This is a major field of reform in itself and studies by Joshi, *et.al.*, (2014 S→) and Carter (2013 S→) provide a broad overview of the available evidence. For the purposes of this discussion, attention is given to BER that affects the decisions of business owners to register for tax and meet their business tax obligations. This concerns tax reforms that specifically affect micro-enterprises, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and informal enterprises (i.e., those not registered with the tax authority).

Tax administration reform aims to make tax administration more transparent and efficient, and may encompass efforts to broaden the tax net to include firms that were previously excluded or exempted. Beyond this, tax reform may include the adjustment of tax rates and the use of incentive instruments. The focus is on how tax policy and administration influence firm behaviour in ways that lead to investment, which includes the decision of business owners to formalise their firm by registering with the tax office.

Only one study was found measuring the impact of a specific tax reform: Fajnzylber and Montes-Rojas (2011 S↑) examined the effect of tax reform in Brazil, which were found to reduce the tax burden on small, eligible firms by about eight per cent and changed firm behaviour: more firms registered for tax and formalised so as to benefit from the reform. Both the existing and newly created firms that opted to operate in the formal sector had higher revenues and profits, and employed more workers. This was found to lead to an overall employment increase of 12 per cent. 12

Five studies were found linking tax registration and payment with firm performance. The evidence finds that reforms to streamline and improve tax administration do influence firm behaviour, i.e., more firms are likely to register for tax as a result of the reform effort:

• In Vietnam, Rand and Torm (2012 P<sup>↑</sup>) examine informality as defined by those firms that are not registered to pay tax and do not have an official tax number. Using

In 1996, Brazil introduced a business tax reduction and simplification scheme, known as 'SIMPLES', for micro and small firms. The programme sought to help small, unskilled labour intensive firms compete more effectively with larger enterprises. The new system allowed firms to substitute a fixed and relatively low percentage of total revenues for the standard payroll contribution, which led to lower labour costs. This created a strong incentive to hire new employees or to legalise existing labour relationships.

While Fajnzylber and Montes-Rojas (2011 S↑) found that it is possible to increase levels of registration through reforms such as these — reforms that lead to much higher firm revenues, employment and profits — it unclear which reforms were behind these effects. Whether these results were a consequence of reduced registration costs, reductions in the number of transactions or the overall level of taxation on labour was not found to be clear. Indeed, other factors, such as the information campaign that surrounded the launching of these reforms, may have performed a significant, but as yet unmeasured, role.

- survey data of household enterprises (2007, 2009) they find that becoming officially registered leads to an increase in firm gross profits and investments.
- Boly's (2015b S<sup>↑</sup>) Vietnam survey examined the impact of "switching" behaviour, where informal firms switch to become formal. He found that firms that switch from informal to formal pay less tax and have a lower probability to do so, compared to non-switching formal firms. He suggests that, as an implication, governments should adjust their tax collection provisions downward if using incumbent formal firms as the reference group. Furthermore, the costs of bringing informal sector firms into the tax net should be taken into account.
- Fajnzylber, et.al., (2009 S<sup>↑</sup>) examined micro enterprise survey data from the 1990s in Mexico and found that registering for and paying tax significantly improved firm profitability: "on average for those complying, paying taxes is not detrimental and something to be evaded, but actually improves firm performance". Other factors assessed included access to credit, training, and participation in business associations.
- Kenyon and Kapaz (2005 P↑) use data from the World Bank's Investment Climate Survey (i.e., 1,600 firms surveyed in 2003) in Brazil to show that firms that avoid paying tax by not registering are less productive and less likely to access financial markets than other firms.
- McKenzie and Sakho (2010 P<sup>↑</sup>) examine micro-enterprises in Bolivia, using distance from the tax office as an instrument for informality, in an effort to establish the causal role of formalisation. They find that formalisation, in the form of registration with the tax authorities, increases firm profitability, but only for mid-sized firms.

In its summary of findings, IFC (2013 S→) argues that a streamlined tax system can increase the number of firms in the formal economy, facilitate investment, widen the tax base, and rationalise a company's tax compliance cost. In addition to finding that an inefficient tax administration (e.g., multiple taxes, cumbersome procedures and high compliance costs) imposes significant constraints on businesses, in particular for SMEs, it highlights the importance of undertaking reforms to adjust different tax rates for companies, or to modernise and rationalise the tax system and administration, including the adoption of electronic tax payment portals.

BER largely focuses on the nature of tax systems, rather than tax rates. However, there is discussion regarding the impact changing rates and tax incentives have on firm investment. The evidence is unclear, especially with regard to how tax rates and incentives affect firms in developing economies:

• Djankov, et.al., (2010 P<sup>↑</sup>) examine corporate tax rates across 85 countries (i.e., 27 high income, 19 upper-middle income, 21 lower-middle income, and 18 low income countries) and find that the level of corporate tax directly affects the levels of investment, the number of business starting up (i.e., entrepreneurship) and the size of the informal economy. The higher the corporate tax rate, the lower the number of business start-ups and the larger the informal economy. Higher tax rates had a

- greater adverse impact on manufacturing than service enterprises, while led to greater use of debt finance over equity.
- A study of the United States by Prillaman and Meier (2014 S<sup>↑</sup>) examined business tax incentives in 50 states, using multiple regression techniques, which found that tax incentives to business had been unhelpful in stimulating economic growth. Further, tax reductions could actually be harmful to state economies by reducing tax revenues and the ability of government to provide necessary public services. While this study may hold little relevance to tax systems in developing economies, where the cost of taxes is only a small percentage of the costs of production, it was interesting to note that in the state of Alabama in 2009 business taxes were only 1.89 per cent of total corporate revenues.<sup>13</sup>

#### STRENGTH OF THE EVIDENCE

Eleven High Quality studies were found to provide strong and consistent evidence on how tax-related BER affects firm behaviour (see Table 4, Appendix 2), confirming that tax reforms have led to an increase in the number of firms that register for tax. While many firms choose to operate informally in order to avoid the perceived burdens and costs associated with formality, and in particular tax, the evidence suggests that formalisation may have significant benefits for growth, or, at least may not hinder growth.

#### 4.1.3 IMPROVEMENT OF LABOUR LAWS AND ADMINISTRATION SYSTEMS

Much has been written on the role of public and private sector employment in reducing poverty and the role of employment policy in stimulating sector productivity. This REA is principally concerned with BER that affects the investment decisions of businesspeople, in this case based on changes to the laws and regulations governing labour. Reforms to the labour regime include minimum wage and employment protection legislation. The IFC (2013 S $\rightarrow$ ) *Jobs Study* and the World Bank (2013 S $\rightarrow$ ) *World Development Report 2013: Jobs,* including the background paper to this report prepared by Inchauste (2013 S $\rightarrow$ ) provide information that synthesises existing research and covers a wide range of labour-related reforms that affect firm-level investment. Betcherman (2014 S $\rightarrow$ ) provides an additional useful and recent review of the literature, while Berg and Kucera (2008 S $\rightarrow$ ) provide an important perspective and overview based on the work of the ILO, which contrasts somewhat with the frameworks applied by the World Bank Group.

All of the studies reviewed agree that more and better-paid employment is critical to lifting people out of poverty. However, there is some contestation around the ways in which this can be achieved. Indeed, as with other aspects of BER presented in this report, the link

Cuts to business taxes also appear to have little or no effect on poverty. This is because a major cost of tax cuts of any kind is the diminished ability for the state to provide public services. Prillaman and Meier (2014 S↑) also argued that tax increases "retard growth if the revenue is used to fund transfer payments" but increase growth when it is used to increase public services.

See, for example, Gutierrez, et.al., (2007) who analyse how the employment and productivity profile of growth and its sector patterns are correlated with poverty reduction.

between labour-related BER and poverty reduction is not direct. For example Berg and Cazes (2008 S↑) raised concerns about the way in which the World Bank's *Doing Business* reports were treating labour laws and regulations, which were largely casting these as unnecessary costs or burdens on business growth. In 2009, the World Bank suspended the inclusion of the Employing Workers Indicator from the *Doing Business* assessments. The Bank has since sought to adopt a more comprehensive approach to labour-market policy and law. Indeed, the 2013 report of the Independent Panel Review of the Doing Business Report has proposed additional indicators be included in the *Doing Business* assessments, such as prescribed hours of work, rest and leave provisions, minimum wages, protections against dismissal, occupational health and safety requirements, social protection and respect for basic labour standards could be considered.

Three studies used large cross-country macro-level data to investigate the impact of labour market reform on the levels of unemployment and employment, coming to differing conclusions on the impact of labour market flexibility on levels of unemployment. Bernal-Verdugo, et.al., (2012 P $\rightarrow$ ) and Crivelli, et.al., (2012 P $\rightarrow$ ) examined the impact of large-scale, gradual reforms on labour market institutions and found that more flexible labour markets are negatively associated with unemployment and positively associated with employment elasticity. Furceri (2012 P $\rightarrow$ ), reporting on the case of Algeria, analysed macro-level data and found that Algeria's rigid labour market, both in absolute and relative terms (i.e., when compared with other emerging economies) is 'one of the reasons' behind the high levels of unemployment. However, these results are strongly refuted by Aleksynska (2014 S $\uparrow$ ) who criticises the methods and data sources used. She argues for further research to "properly understand the role of hiring and firing regulations, as well as the impact of their reforms on unemployment, particularly at times of crises".

The following studies examine relationship between the first type of labour market reform assessed in this REA, the introduction of minimum wages, and levels of employment in the private sector:

- Rama (2001 P↑) evaluates the effects of minimum wage increases on employment and labour productivity across the 27 Indonesian provinces and found a ten per cent increase in average wages led to a two per cent decrease in wage employment, and a five per cent decrease in investment. The decrease in employment appears to be considerable in small firms, but wage employment may actually increase in large firms (especially in the manufacturing sector) where labour is more unionised and where wage increases can defuse industrial tensions.
- Still in Indonesia, Alatas and Cameron (2003 P↑) survey medium and large firms (i.e., more than 20 employees) to examine the impact of increases in minimum wages on employment between 1990 and 1996. They argue that while the link between minimum wages and employment has been well established in developed economies, there is very little micro-level data to examine minimum wage impacts in developing countries. They found there was no evidence of relocation in response

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For a fuller discussion of these issues see: Berg, J. and D. Kucera (2008).

to the minimum wage increases; increases in minimum wage were not associated with reduced employment in either domestic or foreign medium and large firms. While there was some evidence that these changes negatively affected employment in small firms, this finding was not robust and further research was required.

 Hampwaye and Jeppesen (2014 P→) studied the effect of state-business relations in Zambia and found that labour laws were major concerns for food processing firms and, in particular, the minimum wage regulation of 2012. However, this study did not measure the impact of labour laws on business.

The studies on employment protection legislation, the second type labour market reform considered in this REA, are far from conclusive. Across six cross-country assessments and five national studies (described below), the evidence of the impact is unclear. While some studies show that reforms to increase protection to workers inflate the cost on employment and thereby reduce firm investment on employment, others find this effect is negligible.

The following studies provide cross-country comparisons of employment protection legislation:

- Gatti, et.al., (2013 S→) present a collection of research on the Middle East, North Africa region, published as a regional companion to the World Development Report 2013: Jobs, which provides evidence demonstrating limited labour reallocation toward more productive jobs. Two factors contribute to this "mobility deficit": high-value-added jobs are in limited supply and strict labour regulation prevents employers from dismissing workers in response to business needs. As a result, few vacancies are likely to open at any point in time, giving incentives to those who obtain jobs early in life to stay in them for long periods and to those who do not to queue for an opening.
- In a large volume presenting a range of micro-level data on the effects of labour law on employment in Latin America, much of which was conducted and published in the 1990s, Heckman and Pagés (2004 S→) find that labour market regulations are an "inequality-increasing mechanism", because they create the conditions in which some workers (i.e., those in well established firms with good conditions) benefit while many others are hurt. Regulation acts unevenly across different groups in society: young, uneducated and rural workers are much less likely to enjoy coverage than older, skilled, and urban workers.
- Haltiwanger, et.al., (2008 S<sup>↑</sup>) draw from a harmonised and integrated firm-level dataset covering 16 developed, emerging and transition economies in Eastern Europe to explore the industry and size dimensions of the job flows that relate to institutional differences across countries. They find that the consistent enforcement of stringent hiring and firing regulations reduce job turnover. Stringent labour regulations mainly affect the entry and exit of firms and their associated job creation and destruction.
- Botero, et.al., (2003 S↑) study the regulation of labour markets through employment laws, collective bargaining laws and social security laws in 85 countries and find that richer countries regulate labour less than poorer countries, although they have more

- generous social security systems. Stronger labour regulation was found to be associated with a larger informal economy, lower labour force participation, and higher unemployment, especially of the young.
- Campos and Nugent (2012 S→) develop an index that captures the rigidity of employment protection legislation in some 140 countries over time starting in 1960.
   They found that increasing rigidity in employment protection legislation does not systematically affect economic growth. However, these reforms were found to reduce wage inequality.
- Drawing from a three-year, cross-country study covering Bangladesh, India, Nepal and Sri Lanka, which included enterprise surveys, White (2014 P→) found that labour laws had little impact on enterprise growth within the micro and small enterprise sector. While these countries have introduced thresholds that limit the full application of the labour law based on enterprise size (i.e., firms below a certain size are exempt from various provisions of the labour law), these thresholds did not appear to affect the performance of firms. Whether through a lack of awareness of these provisions or poor implementation of the law, enterprise growth was not affected.

The studies below present evidence from single-country research (Brazil, Chile, India, and China) on employment protection legislation:

- Using a combination of firm level and administrative data, Almeida and Carneiro (2009 P↑) study the case of Brazil and the role of labour enforcement (i.e., inspections and fines) on firms. They found that stricter enforcement reduces the access firms have to unregulated labour, which can increase labour costs. This was found to be negatively associated with wages, productivity and investment.
- Studying reforms to employment protection legislation in Chile and using national manufacturing census data covering a 17-year period, Petrin and Sivadasan (2006 P↑) found that strict laws around the firing of workers does impose a higher cost on the economy, but were unable to identify a significant impact on employment levels.
- Besley and Burgess (2004 P<sup>↑</sup>) examined the relationship between regulation and development in India and found that 'pro-worker' labour reforms tended to reduce investment flows and did not translate to better employment outcomes for workers. The paper finds "little evidence that pro-worker labour market regulations have actually promoted the interests of labour and, more worryingly, that they have been a constraint on growth and poverty alleviation".
- Ahsan and Pagés (2008 P→) look further at reforms that increased employment protection and the cost of labour disputes in India, using data from Besley and Burgess (2004 P↑) and other mixed sources, to find that these reforms substantially reduced formal sector employment and output. These reforms also did not increase the share of value added that goes to labour and, it is concluded, did not benefit workers.
- Xu (2010; 18 S→) asserts that existing cross-country studies on labour regulations cannot offer much policy guidance for developing countries. However, he asserts that recent firm-level studies of labour regulations in developing countries suggest

that labour flexibility facilitates faster factor adjustments, and a more efficient distribution in firm sizes. Evidence from China shows that labour flexibility improves firm performance (e.g., sales growth, investment rate and employment growth).

#### STRENGTH OF THE EVIDENCE

Twelve High and Medium Quality studies have presented strong and consistent evidence that labour-related BER affects the decisions of business owners and impacts on poor workers in different ways (see Table 4, Appendix 2). All of these studies identified the increase in costs associated with reforms that strengthen employment protection. While reform improves the conditions for workers in large, well-established firms, it can have adverse effects on the volume of employment offered by SMEs and can reduce the employment opportunities available to young and inexperienced workers. However, there is great contestation regarding the way research in this field is framed and, as a result, more evidence is required to better understand the relationship between labour-related BER, firm behaviour and poverty reduction.

#### 4.1.4 LAND TITLES, REGISTERS AND ADMINISTRATION REFORM

There is a large body of literature dealing with land reform and development. Indeed, the breadth of this literature requires more attention than can be given in this REA where the focus largely will be on the links between land titling reform and firm investment, and land titling reform and access to credit. 16 Land titling and administration reform is closely connected with the role of property rights in development. 17 There have been many theoretical and macro-level studies that present the relationship between improved property rights, economic growth and poverty reduction. 18 This evidence was recently reviewed by DFID (2014 S---), which found "a medium-sized body of high-quality evidence" supporting an association between secure property rights and long-term economic growth. In the most part, the focus of these reforms is on formalising land titles and improving the registration and administration systems. However, not all agree that formalisation is the solution. Bromley (2009 S $\rightarrow$ ) critiques these claims and provides a secondary analysis of the literature to argue that the focus on formalisation is misplaced: poor people are not poor because they don't own the land, but because of a broader set of "flawed economic policies". He argues there is very little empirical evidence linking the formalisation of land titles to poverty reduction and that land tenure reform should not be elevated above other

Readers are directed to other publications that provide a more thorough overview of the literature in this field: DFID (2014) and USAID (2014).

While the concept of 'property rights' is broad, referring, as North (1990) suggests, to "the rights individuals appropriate over their own labour and the goods and services they possess", this REA focuses on the control people have over immobile, fixed assets, specifically land and buildings.

Authors such as De Soto (2000) have long argued that household property rights and formal land titles have a significant impact on capital formation and poverty. Acemoglu, *et.al.*, (2001) have shown the importance of property rights and good institutions, while Acemoglu and Johnson (2005) find that good 'property rights institutions' have a "first-order effect on long-run economic growth, investment, and financial development".

policy reform priorities. This view is supported by Payne, et.al., (2009 S $\rightarrow$ ) and Cousins et.al., (2005 P $\rightarrow$ ).

In a policy brief presenting wide-ranging research USAID (2014 S $\rightarrow$ ) identifies four mechanisms that link rural land tenure and property rights to economic growth. Tenure rights were found to: increase the likelihood that farmers making investments in the present will be able to enjoy the returns to those investments in the future, increase access to credit so landholders can more easily finance on-farm investments, enable land transfers through more dynamic land markets, and make it more likely to attract further investment necessary for broad-based economic growth. In an effort to empirically test De Soto's (2000) claims regarding property rights and capital formation, Kerekes and Williamson (2008 P $\uparrow$ ) undertake macro-level cross-country regressions to analyse property protection measures and economic growth and find positive and significant effects of property rights institutions on wealth, collateral and capital formation.

Eight studies were found using national survey data to positively associate land titling with firm investment and growth although the strength of the association differs along variables such as the size of firms:

- In an often-cited study published prior to the scope of this REA (i.e., before 2000), Besley (1995 P↑) examines land rights in two regions in Ghana. His surveys find a link between property rights and investment. However, he also warns reformers against treating land reform as a 'panacea' for the problems of low growth and investment; it is necessary to fully understand the social context in which property rights evolve.
- Using firm survey data in a number of post-communist countries in the late 1990s, Johnson, et.al., (2002 P↑) found that firms are more likely to reinvest their profit if they perceive their property rights as more secure. Secure property rights were found to be more important for investments than availability of credit.
- Green and Moser (2012 P<sup>↑</sup>) examined the case of Madagascar and found a link between secure property rights and firm-level investment. A formal land title was important for the growth of large firms, but not for SMEs, which "may be more likely to be local and thus able to rely on traditional property rights or they may simply have less need for formal titles because they have less invested".
- Deininger, et.al., (2011 P↑) applied panel survey data of rural households in Ethiopia
  to assess the impact of a land certification programme on land tenure and security,
  investment and land markets. While the ten-year period between the completion of
  the reform and the assessment was considered insufficient to capture the full extent
  of this impact, the reforms were found to have increased land-related investment
  and yielded benefits significantly above the cost of implementation.
- Ojah et.al., (2010 P↑) used World Bank Investment Climate Assessment data from 860 firms in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda, and found that low levels of security of property rights led to lower levels of investments in fixed capital.
- Boucher, et.al., (2004 P↑) use panel data from Honduras and Nicaragua to compare title, credit, and land access patterns before and after market liberalisation reforms.
   Their regression analyses found that despite major gains in titling and some increase

- in land market activity, improvements in credit and land access did not occur, and appear unlikely to occur without further policy attention to credit markets.
- Do and Iyer (2008 P<sup>↑</sup>) examine this topic in Vietnam using two data sets from the Vietnam Living Standards Survey. They found that the 1993 Land Law reforms had a positive, but not very large, impact on the decisions of households to undertake long-term agriculture investments. However, there was no evidence that these reforms led to increased access to credit for rural households.
- Smith et.al., (2007 P↑) examine land-tenure security enhancing reforms in Vietnam: where informality survives in the land market, examples were found of the detrimental effects of informal land-tenure systems, particularly on poor households: ownership disputes, reduced land values and difficulties in mortgaging informally held land. Their evidence suggests that the 'transforming effects' of formal title can also be exaggerated.

One of the major arguments presented for the importance of land titling reforms as a measure for poverty reduction is that the security of land tenure will improve access to credit. However, there is very little empirical evidence that supports this. Only one study, evaluating a land titling reform programme in Thailand, reported a positive impact, while four studies found this not to be the case, indicating that access to credit involved many other variables than the ability to use a land title as collateral.

- Burns (2004 S→) examined programme evaluations of a 20-year land titling reform programme in Thailand and found that increasing rural land tenure led to an 27 per cent increase in access to institutional credit, cheaper interest rates from formal finance providers and an overall increase in borrowers' receiving credit ranging from 75 to 123 per cent.
- Cousins, et.al., (2005 P→) provide a case study analysis of land tenure reforms in South Africa and conclude that, while these reforms are important because they address problems that contribute to insecurity and can "hamper development", they are insufficient for addressing the concerns of poor, informal settlements. Greater attention should be given to the economic, social and political context in which informal land systems are found.
- In a broad, secondary review of the literature, Domeher and Abdulai (2012 S→) explore the connection between land titling and access to credit, concluding that this link is tenuous. This is largely because of the factors beyond property ownership that affect the decision of commercial finance institutions to extend credit, such as cash flow and the debtors demonstrated ability to pay. As with other studies, the authors do not suggest land titling is useless, just that it cannot be the basis for enhancing credit access for development.
- Payne et.al., (2005 S→) review the literature and examine the cases of Senegal and South Africa to find that many of the benefits of land tenure reforms are often overstated. Where titling provides increased tenure security, it does not necessarily protect people from eviction and expropriation of their land and often fails to increase access to credit. Typically, the poor do not wish to use land titles as collateral because the risk of losing their land is felt to be too great.

In Argentina, Galiani and Schargrodsky (2005 P↑) compare two areas in a "natural experiment" on land titling reform and found that land titling had no effect on access to credit. This, it was argued, is because the possession of real estate was a necessary, but insufficient condition for qualifying for formal credit.<sup>19</sup>

Security of land tenure has a specific gender dimension that is often overlooked by researchers. The World Bank (2014 P $\rightarrow$ ) *Women, Business and the Law* report indicates that women are more likely to have formal bank accounts in economies with a default full community of property or partial community of property marital regime than in economies with a default separation of property marital regime.<sup>20</sup> It is also reported that enterprises owned by women may face additional constraints, such as discriminatory policies and laws, including not being able to open their own bank account, sign a contract or hold land title.

#### STRENGTH OF THE EVIDENCE

Nineteen High and Medium Quality studies consistently confirm an association between property rights and economic growth. However, it is unclear how predictable this association is. On the one hand, studies have found that securing property rights creates greater confidence among business owners who are more prepared to invest because their long-term ownership is more assured. On the other hand, secure property rights do not, on their own, lead to improved access to finance, as is often claimed, as there are other factors that affect the performance of financial markets.

#### 4.1.5 OVERALL BODY OF EVIDENCE ON BER AND FIRM BEHAVIOUR

Fifty-four High and Medium Quality studies have been presented demonstrating a direct impact of BER on firm behaviour: 12 on business registration and licensing reform, 11 on tax reform, 12 on labour-related reforms, and 19 on land titling reforms (see Table 4, Appendix 2). The evidence includes macro-level cross-country and national assessments, as well as national, micro-level surveys.

In all these four fields, the evidence presented indicates that the impacts of reforms are not always as great as reformers might anticipate. This may be a result of isolating these specific reforms from a broader reform programme for research purposes. It was often reported that a single reform is not enough, on its own, to create the scale of impact reformers may desire. Thus, reforms within narrow thematic areas appear to have a limited effect. In all studies reviewed a compelling case is put for the integration or packaging of other interventions that would buttress the reform effort and increase the pro-poor effects of BER.

Land titling did have substantial positive impacts on housing quality, household size and investment in children's education, which suggests that securing property rights may reduce poverty in future generations.

The Women, Business and the Law report is an annual publication that examines laws and regulations that affect women's ability to earn an income, either by starting and running their own businesses or by getting jobs. It covers 143 economies in general, with 100 economies being covered by two indicators on legal reforms, Accessing institutions and Using property, which come from the 50 Years of Women's Legal Rights database.

This includes communicating the reform to all intended beneficiaries, providing information and access to finance, and any other incentive that can be used to help informal firms recognise the benefits of formalising.

There is Strong, High Quality and consistent evidence that narrowly framed BER dealing with a single element of the environment (e.g., registration, tax, labour) does not, on its own, lead to the formalisation of informal firms. This is relevant because of the high number of poor businesswomen and men who operate unregistered, unlicensed or non-compliant businesses and because of the negative effect this has on business performance. Reforms are more likely to have an impact on informal firms when they combine with reforms in a number of fields.

#### 4.2 FIRM BEHAVIOUR AND AGGREGATE ECONOMIC EFFECTS

The second causal link connecting BER and poverty deals with how changes made by individual firms affect the broader economy. Changes in firm behaviour have a broader impact across the economy. These aggregate effects lead to economy-wide outcomes, such as higher levels of private investment and increased competitive pressures. These effects lead to increases in economic growth as, for example, measured by GDP.

The evidence gathered through this assessment refers to a few key transmission points that connect change in the business sector with broad economic effects. These include studies that connect business regulation to investment and growth. There is a broad body of research that deals with the role of business regulation on investment. Much of this literature draws from developed economies, such as those comprising the OECD. <sup>21</sup> However, studies that include developing and emerging economies in their analysis demonstrate that improvements in the business regulatory regime are associated with a positive effect on economic growth. For example:

- Gorgens, et.al., (2003 P↑) use cross-country regression analysis to estimate the impact of regulation using the Fraser Institute's Economic Freedom Index as the measure of regulatory burden. They find that a more heavily regulated economy might have economic growth on average lower by about two to three per cent than less heavily regulated economies. However, this effect is mainly found in comparisons between moderately and highly regulated regimes.
- Loayza, et.al., (2004 P↑) estimate the impact of regulatory policy on GDP growth and volatility in a sample of 76 developed and developing countries in the late 1990s, using a cross-country regression. They find a negative causal relationship between economic growth and overall regulation and separately product market and labour regulation. They find that "regulation tends to reduce growth". However, in most instances they found that the quality of regulation "makes a big difference". Better institutions "help mitigate, and even eliminate, the adverse impact of regulation on macroeconomic performance".

\_

See for example: Alesina, et.al., (2005) dealing with OECD countries.

- Djankov, et.al., (2006 P↑) use the World Bank's Doing Business database covering 183 countries to establish the relationship between the burden of business regulations and economic growth. The results show a statistically significant relationship between the regulatory business burden and economic growth. The findings suggest that moving from the worst to the best quartile of business regulation implies a 2.3 percentage point increase in average annual growth.
- Jalilian, et.al., (2007 P↑) use the World Bank Governance Indicators data to derive a
  measure of the quality of regulatory policy and governance, which include voice and
  accountability, political instability, government effectiveness, regulatory quality, rule
  of law, and control of corruption. The results show that regulatory quality has a
  positive and causal impact on economic growth.<sup>22</sup>
- Jacobzone, et.al., (2010 P↑) use OECD surveys from 1998 and 2005 to provide a regression analysis from two regulatory management systems analysis, Factor Analysis (which deals with an integrated approach to ex ante regulatory assessment) and Principal Component Analysis (dealing with the stock of existing regulation). This data is correlated with other datasets (i.e., OECD indicators of Product Market Regulations, subsets of the Doing Business and Worldwide Governance Indicators, and the Global Competitiveness Index from the World Economic Forum). The study supports the view that improvements in regulatory management system quality produce significant economic benefits. The results indicate a significant and positive impact on employment, GDP, and labour productivity in response to improvements in regulatory management systems.

While the above assessments use macro-level data to link regulations with economic growth, there is less evidence that specifically focuses on the impact of BER. Researchers face major methodological challenges when attempting to attribute economic growth to changes in business behaviour. Unlocking the potential for economic growth certainly requires BER, but is likely to require other interventions such as access to finance and infrastructure. The 'binding constraints' to economic growth are likely to be found in the BE, but also in these other areas. As the examples below illustrate, addressing only one element is clearly not enough.

• One of the most recent studies into this issue comes from an evaluation by the IEG (2014 P→) in the World Bank Group, which claimed that "within the limits of the available measures of investment climate indicators", the Bank Group was successful in improving investment climate in client countries, as measured by number of laws enacted, streamlining of processes and time, or simple cost savings for private firms" (p. ix).<sup>23</sup> However, the evaluation was not prepared to make claims regarding the impacts of these reforms on development outcomes and goals, the

The IEG (2014 S→) evaluation examined 819 World Bank Group projects across 119 countries for the Financial Years 2007 to 2013. This covered an estimated US\$3.7 billion of BER programmes.

31

However, the results may be weakened by problems of reverse causation, where higher economic growth leads to better regulation.

- higher levels of the causal chain discussed below. The "impact of regulatory reforms on firm creation, jobs, and investment", say the IEG, "is not clear" (p. 91). 24
- In an assessment of the evidence on land-related BER, USAID (2014 S→) found that
  while attributing impact of economic growth to land tenure and property rights
  interventions is "typically very difficult and confounded by the complex
  development processes involved", there are outcome variables that can be linked to
  economic growth (e.g., investment, credit availability, poverty rates, land values,
  and agricultural productivity).<sup>25</sup>
- Rahman's (2014 S→) findings drawn from a wide range of IC reform programmes are quite mixed. He argues that rigorous empirical evidence on these reforms and job creation in developing countries is relatively scarce, and most of these studies focus on business entry reforms with a handful of them also focusing on business taxation and investment promotion. None of the random controlled trials find any evidence of an effect of entry reforms on firm formalisation and job creation. A few quasi-experimental studies demonstrate job effects from firm formalisation through tax reforms and business entry reforms where the job effects are most likely coming from the creation of new businesses rather than informal businesses graduating to the formal sector.
- Loayza, et.al., (2010 P↑) undertake a cross-country macro-level analysis of informality in Latin America and find that informality has a statistically and economically significant impact on growth and an equally significant positive impact on the incidence of poverty across countries. They describe the ambiguous impact of formalisation and the difficulties this presents in assessing the impact of informality on economic growth: two countries can have the same level of informality, but if the informality has been achieved in different ways, the countries' growth rates may be markedly different. Countries where informality is kept at bay by drastic enforcement will fare worse than countries where informality is low because of light regulations and appropriate public services. Thus, they conclude that the mechanism of formalisation matters enormously for its consequences on employment, efficiency and growth. If formalisation is purely based on enforcement, it will likely lead to unemployment and low growth. However, where it is based on improvements in both the regulatory framework and the quality and availability of

24

This study examines cases where BER has been considered to be relatively successful, but where broader, desired change, such as increased investment and GDP growth, has not been achieved. Rwanda, was one such country. Rwanda is one of the fastest growing countries in Africa. In recent years, Rwanda has demonstrated a desire for BER and the results of these reforms have been reflected in significant improvements in its position in the annual World Bank *Doing Business* rankings. Despite the 'success' of these reforms, Rwanda's achievements in terms of private investment and FDI have been below expectations. The IEG study concludes that Doing Business reforms are "not enough and so it is broadening the scope of reforms and methodically trying to address other binding constraints to private businesses" (p. 90, Box 3.2).

This broad assessment is confirmed by a national study by Minot and Goletti (2000 S<sup>↑</sup>) who analysed the effects of the liberalisation of the production and marketing of rice in Vietnam, finding that whilst the effects varied across the country, many poorer households benefitted from liberalisation. They argue that the relatively equal distribution of land was an essential prerequisite if market reform was to translate into growth.

- public services, it is associated with more efficient use of resources and higher growth.
- The study by Sur, et.al., (2014 P↑) into rural non-farm employment generation in Pakistan found that IC obstacles do hinder growth in rural Pakistan. However, most of the obstacles identified concern IC issues, such as infrastructure and public transport. Infrastructure and anti-competitive behaviour was also found by other studies to affect firm performance (see Dethier, Hirn and Straub 2010 P→).

# STRENGTH OF THE EVIDENCE

Twelve High and Medium Quality studies consider the association between BER and economic growth (see Table 5, Appendix 2). Five High Quality studies report on the association between business regulation and economic growth. While regulation creates a 'burden' on business, the effect of this burden is governed by the quality of business regulations. Indeed, the macro-level data, drawing from developed and developing economies, consistently finds that regulatory quality has a positive impact on economic growth.

When micro-level data is examined, the evidence confirms, it is more difficult to demonstrate an association between BER that changes firm behaviour and increases firm investment, and economic growth. This has led researchers, such as IEG (2013), to take a cautious approach and avoid attributing BER to effects at this level, while others, such as USAID (2014), suggest an inference can be made based on specific proxies. Where these proxies are used and where macro-level data is assessed within the context of BER, these claims are modest.

The small sized, but consistent and Medium-to-High quality of the studies on this link present Limited Evidence of the positive relationship between BER and economic growth.

# 5.0 CONCLUSIONS

#### 5.1 THE STATE OF PLAY

This REA did not find any evidence that demonstrates a direct link between BER and poverty reduction. Strong and consistent evidence was found that reform affects poverty indirectly by changing the behaviour of private firms, although these effects varied and were of a smaller scale than most reformers tend to argue.

Reforms that simplified business registration and licensing procedures, reduced the time and cost associated with registration and licensing, but did not significantly impact on unregistered and unlicensed firms. While studies confirmed a positive link between registration and firm performance, reforms were generally not instrumental in encouraging informal enterprise to formalise. One of the reasons for this may be a concern for the tax implications of business registration.

**Reform of the tax system** is a major field of BER that aims to make tax administration more transparent and efficient. Here again, the evidence is consistent in positively linking tax registration and payment with firm performance. Reforms in this field have led to an increase in the number of firms that register for tax. However, despite the recognised benefits of formalisation, many firms choose to operate informally in order to avoid the perceived burdens and costs associated with formality.

Because more and better-paid employment is critical to lifting people out of poverty, the **role of labour-related BER** has been given significant attention. There is strong and consistent evidence that labour-related BER affects the decisions of business owners and impacts on poor workers in different ways. However, while all studies identified the increase in costs associated with reforms that strengthen employment protection, not all agree that these costs are negative. The employment effects of increased employment protection vary according to firm size and can reduce the employment opportunities available to young and inexperienced workers.

There is a **strong association between property rights and economic growth**. Reforms that improve the security of land tenure through land titling and administration reform do increase firm-level investment. These reforms increase the likelihood that investments made today can be realised tomorrow, facilitate a more dynamic land market and increase the attractiveness of further investments necessary for broad-based economic growth. However, there is little evidence to link land-titling reform with increased access to credit, as it is often claimed, as there are other factors that affect the performance of financial markets.

Researchers are careful about making claims regarding the outcomes of reform. While there is strong and consistent evidence on the positive association between the quality of business regulation and economic growth, there is little evidence found that confidently asserts the relationship between BER and economic growth. This is largely due to the wide range of factors that also affect this relationship.

Many factors come into play when aggregate investment and employment is considered. Unlocking the potential for economic growth certainly requires reform of the businesses environment, but it is likely to require other interventions such as access to finance, improvements in infrastructure, etc. The 'binding constraints' to economic growth are likely to be found in the BE, but also in other areas. Addressing only one element is clearly not enough.

No evidence has been found to connect BER directly with poverty reduction. There is strong evidence to show how broad, macro-economic reforms spur growth and lead to poverty reduction, but this is not a direct or linear effect. Issues such as inequality and migration play an important role. It is also clear that firm size, sector and location have an influence on how reform affects poor women and men.

#### 5.2 POTENTIAL SUCCESS FACTORS: HOW REFORM AFFECTS LEVELS OF POVERTY

Drawing from the evidence reviewed, this section provides a brief overview of the potential success factors for BER that is designed to reduce poverty in developing economies.

- Integrate BER with macro-economic reforms a key factor in realising the benefits of macro-reforms is to ensure BER is closely integrated with these programmes.
- Complement reforms with support interventions attention should be given to issues such as access to finance and information, as well as to labour productivity.
- Pay attention to the BE barriers faced by women women may not fully benefit
  from BER in the same way men are and reforms need to be designed, managed and
  monitored in a gender-sensitive manner.
- Formulate country and culture-specific reforms there is a clear need for country and culture-specific approaches to BER in which donors take a long-term view, seeking to build consensus among stakeholders in order to ensure that reforms are viewed as legitimate.
- Broaden the scope of desired impact broaden the scope of impacts that are analysed and include social indicators so as to take into account non-business stakeholders.

#### 5.3 FURTHER RESEARCH

Finally, there are a number of areas where it is clear that BER would benefit from further research related to the effect of BER on poverty:

- Continuing the drive for outcome measurement over the last decade, there has been a strong drive for more evidence on how BER affects firms and achieves specific outcomes, such as increased investment, employment and productivity. More evidence was found on how firms respond to reforms in terms of their decision to register, license and pay tax. However, the broader outcomes of these efforts are still not being adequately captured.
- BER and poverty impacts the third and most critical level of the impact chain remains elusive in terms of hard evidence. There is a need for more information that

- specifically connects BER, as opposed to broad, macro-level reforms, with poverty reduction.
- BER impact on broader social indicators somewhat linked to the need for more information on how BER impacts on poverty is the demand for better data on how BER affects a range of social indicators.
- Gender and the business environment there is a significant gap in the available evidence base on how women are affected by a poor BE and how reforms can be designed and managed to improve the outcomes for businesses that are owned and managed by women.

# **REFERENCES**

#### **GENERAL REFERENCES**

Acemoglu, D. and S. Johnson 2005 "Unbundling institutions", *Journal of Political Economy*, 113(5), pp. 949–995.

Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S. and Robinson, J.A. 2001 "The colonial origins of comparative development: an empirical investigation", *American Economic Review*, 91(5), pp. 1369–1401.

Department for International Development 2014 Assessing the Strength of Evidence; How to Note, March, DFID, London

De Soto, H. 2000 *The Mystery of Capital: Why Capitalism Thrives in the West and Fails Everywhere Else*, Basic Books, New York

Donor Committee for Enterprise Development 2015 "How Private Sector Development leads to Pro-Poor Impacts: A Framework for Evidence", accessed 15 April 2015: <a href="http://www.enterprise-development.org/page/framework-evidence">http://www.enterprise-development.org/page/framework-evidence</a>

— 2008 Supporting Business Environment Reforms: Practical Guidance for Development Agencies, Cambridge

Gutierrez, C., C. Orecchia, P. Paci, and P. Serneels 2007 *Does Employment Generation Really Matter for Poverty Reduction?* Policy Research Working Paper No. 4432, World Bank, Washington DC

Independent Panel Review of the Doing Business Report 2013 *Panel Report*, World Bank, Washington

International Labour Organization 2014 Sustainable Enterprises; Creating More and Better Jobs, ILO, Geneva

North, D. 1990, *Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development 2013, *Development Co-operation Report* 2013: Ending Poverty, OECD Publishing, Paris

- 2006 Promoting Private Investment for Development; The Role of ODA, OECD, Paris
- 2001 Poverty Reduction; The DAC Guidelines, OECD Publishing, Paris

UK Government 2014 Rapid Evidence Assessment Toolkit, Civil Service website, accessed 15 March 2015, <a href="http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/networks/gsr/resources-and-guidance/rapid-evidence-assessment">http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/networks/gsr/resources-and-guidance/rapid-evidence-assessment</a>

White, S. & P. Fortune, forthcoming, What is the evidence on links between business environment reform and investment, and on the effectiveness of linking business environment reforms and investment facilitation/promotion? A Rapid Evidence Assessment, A Coffey International Development report submitted to DFID, London

#### STUDIES IDENTFIED THROUGH THE R.E.A. PROCESS

#### **DFID PRIORITY COUNTRIES**

#### PRIMARY STUDIES [P]

Ahsan, A. and C. Pagés 2008 Are All Labor Regulations Equal? Evidence from Indian Manufacturing, Discussion Paper No. 3394, March, Institute for the Study of Labor, Bonn

Besley T. 1995 "Property Rights and Investment Incentives: Theory and Evidence from Ghana", *Journal of Political Economics*, 103

Besley, T., & R. Burgess 2004 "Can Labor Regulation Hinder Economic Performance? Evidence from India." Quarterly Journal of Economics 119(1): 91-134.

Bhanumurthy, N.R. & A. Mitra 2004 "Economic Growth, Poverty, and Inequality in Indian States in the Pre-Reform and Reform Periods", *Asian Development Review* Vol. 21 No. 2

Cousins, B., T. Cousins, D. Hornby, R. Kingwill, L. Royston and W. Smit 2005 "Will formalizing property rights reduce poverty in South Africa's 'second economy'? Questioning the mythologies of Hernando de Soto", in Programme for Land and Agrarian Studies – PLAAS, "Debating land reform, natural resources and poverty", Policy Brief No 18, October.

Deininger, K., D. A. Ali, and T Alemu 2011 "Impacts of Land Certification on Tenure Security, Investment, and Land Markets: Evidence from Ethiopia", *Land Economics*, 87(2): 312-334

Ellis, Manuel and Blackden 2006 "Gender & Economic Growth in Uganda" World Bank

Ellis, Cutura, Dione et.al., 2007 "Gender & Economic Growth in Kenya" World Bank

Halkias, D., C. Nwajiuba, N. Harkiolakis, & S.M. Caracatsanis 2011 "Challenges facing women entrepreneurs in Nigeria", *Management Research Review* Vol. 34 No 2, pp. 221-235

Hampwaye, G. & S. Jeppesen 2014 "The role of state-business relations in the performance of Zambia's food processing sub-sector", *Bulletin of Geography* Vol. 26, pp. 83-92

Hilson, G. & C. Potter 2005 "Structural adjustment and subsistence industry: Artisanal gold mining in Ghana", *Development and Change* Vol. 36 No. 1 pp. 103-131

Jin, S. & K. Deininger 2009 "Key constraints for rural non-farm activity in Tanzania: Combining investment climate and household surveys", *Journal of African Economies* Vol. 18 No. 2, pp. 319-361

Kareem, R.O., V. Ayo, & S. B. Williams 2009 "Agro-allied industry and employment generation in Abeokuta South local government, Ogun State, Nigeria", *Advances in Natural and Applied Sciences*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 60-67

Kaufmann, F. & W. Parlmeyer 2006 "The Dilemma of Small Business in Mozambique: A Research Note", *International Research in the Business Disciplines*, Vol. 5, pp. 203-214

Lyons, M., A. Brown & C. Msoka 2012 "(Why) have pro-poor policies failed Africa's working poor?", *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 24, No. 8, pp. 1008-1029

Mc Mahon, G., N. Barkhuizen & N. Schutte 2014 "The impact of globalisation on South African businesses: Some leadership thoughts", *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, Vol. 5, No. 9, pp. 215-220

Mosley, P. 2013 *Two Africas; Why Africa's growth miracle is barely reducing poverty*, University of Manchester Brooks World Poverty Institute WP 191/13

Ojah, K., T. Gwatidzo, and S. Kaniki 2010 Legal Environment, Finance Channels and Investment: The East African Example, *The Journal of Development Studies*, 46(4), pp.724–744

Rama, M. 2001 "The Consequences of Doubling the Minimum Wage: The Case of Indonesia", *Industrial and Labour Relations Review* (54) 4, pp. 864-881

Smith, W., I.P. Williamson, A. Burns A., T.K. Chung, N.T.V. Ha, & H.X. Quyen 2007 "The impact of land market processes on the poor in rural Vietnam", *Survey Review*, Vol. 39, No. 303, pp. 3-20

Sur, M., J. Zhang, & K. Chen 2014 "The investment climate and enterprise performance in rural Pakistan: implications for rural non-farm employment generation", *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 488-505

White, S 2014 Labour Laws, the Business Environment and the Growth of Micro and Small Enterprises in South Asia, ILO DWT for South Asia and Country Office for India, New Delhi

#### SECONDARY STUDIES [S]

Abegaz, B. 2004 "Escaping Ethiopia's Poverty Trap: The Case for a Second Agrarian Reform", *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, Vol. 42, No. 3, pp. 313-342

Agboli, M. & C.C. Ukaegbu 2006 "Business Environment and Entrepreneurial Activity in Nigeria: Implications for Industrial Development", *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, Vol. 44, No. 1, pp. 1-30

Ahluwalia, I.J. & Z. Hussain 2004 "Development Achievements and Challenges", *Economic and Political Weekly*, Vol. 39, No. 36, pp. 4013-4022

Bigsten, A. & M. Söderbom 2005 What Have We Learned from a Decade of Manufacturing Enterprise Surveys in Africa? World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 3798

Besley, T. & L.J. Cord (Eds) 2007 *Delivering on the Promise of Pro-Poor Growth: Insights and Lessons from Country Experiences*, Washington, DC: World Bank and Palgrave Macmillan

Blouin, C & I. Njorge 2004 Evaluation of DFID Support to Trade Related Capacity Building - Case Study of Kenya, North-South Institute

Dollar, D. 2002 Reform, Growth & Poverty in Vietnam, WB Research Policy Paper 2837

Eifert, B.P. 2009 *Do regulatory Reforms stimulate investment and growth*, Centre for Global Development, Washington DC

Fedderke, J. & J. Garlick 2012 "Measuring Institutions: Indicators of Political and Property Rights in Malawi", *Social Indicators Research*, Vol. 106, No. 3, pp. 491-521

Kuada, J. & O.J. Sørensen 2005 Facilitated Inter-Firm Collaboration in Ghana: The Case of Danida's Private-Sector Development Projects, *Development in Practice*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 475-489

May, J., T. Stevens & A. Stols 2000 Monitoring the Impact of Land Reform on Quality of Life: A South African Case Study, *Social Indicators Research*, Vol. 58, No. 1, pp. 293-312

Minot, N. & Goletti, F. 2000 *Rice Market Liberalisation and Poverty in Vietnam*, International Food Policy Research Institute, RR 114

Odhiambo, W. & Otieno, G. 2005 "Trade Policy Reforms and Poverty in Kenya: Processes and Outcomes", Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (KIPPRA) Paper Prepared for the Policy Round Table discussion on the Linkages between Trade, Development and Poverty Reduction

Record, R. 2007 "From policy to practice: Changing government attitudes towards the private sector in Malawi", *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 19, No. 6, pp. 805-816

Schaumburg-Müller, H. 2005 "Private-Sector Development in a Transition Economy: The Case of Vietnam" Development in Practice, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 349-361

Shrestha, B.K. 2013 "Squatter Settlements in the Kathmandu Valley: Looking Through the Prism of Land Rights and Tenure Security" Urban Forum, Vol. 24, No. 1, pp. 119-135

Sitko, N.J. & T.S. Jayne 2014 "Structural transformation or elite land capture? The growth of 'emergent' farmers in Zambia", *Food Policy*, Vol. 48, pp. 194-202

Topalova, P. 2010 "Factor Immobility and Regional Impacts of Trade Liberalization: Evidence on Poverty from India", *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, October, Vol. 2, No. 4, pp. 1-41

#### THEORETICAL PAPERS [T]

Adebayo, I.J. & O. Ibizugbe 2002 "Environmental responsibility: A panacea for operational disturbances" ASME 2002 Engineering Technology Conference on Energy, Vol. 1, pp. 335-340

Adenugba, A.A. 2013 "Good governance and accountability in Nigeria's developmental dilemma", *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 777-782

Atal, S. 2003 "Central Asian geopolitics and U.S. policy in the region: The post-11 September era" *Mediterranean Quarterly*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 95-109

Etuk, R.U., G.R. Etuk & B. Michael 2014 "Small And Medium Scale Enterprises (SMEs) And Nigeria's Economic Development", *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, Vol. 5, No. 7

Freeman, N.J. 2004 "Harnessing foreign direct investment for economic development and poverty reduction: Lessons from Vietnam", *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 209-222

Jenkins, C. & L. Thomas 2002 "FDI in Sothern Africa: Determinants, Characteristics and Implications for Economic Growth & Poverty Alleviation" (mimeo), CSAE University of Oxford and CREFSA London School of Economics

Kangave, J. 2005 "Improving Tax Administration: A Case Study of the Uganda Revenue Authority", *Journal of African Law*, Vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 145-176

Kumar, A. 2005 "India's black economy: The macroeconomic implications", *South Asia: Journal of South Asia Studies*, Vol. 28, No. 2, pp. 249-263

Le Goff, M. & R. Singh 2013 "Can Trade Reduce Poverty in Africa?", World Bank Economic Premise, Vol. 114

Lewis, J.D. 2002 "Promoting growth and employment in South Africa", South African Journal of Economics, Vol. 70, No. 4, pp. 725-776

\*Mallon, R. 2004 Managing Investment Climate Reforms: Vietnam Case Study, Draft case study prepared as input for the World Bank's World Development Report 2005 on Investment Climate, Growth and Poverty

Streak, J.C. 2004 "The Gear legacy: Did Gear fail or move South Africa forward in development?" *Development Southern Africa*, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 271-288

#### LOW-INCOME AND MEDIUM-INCOME COUNTRIES

### PRIMARY STUDIES [P]

Alatas, V., and L.A. Cameron 2003 *The Impact of Minimum Wages on Employment in a Low Income Country: An Evaluation using the Difference-in-Differences Approach*, Policy Research WP 2985, World Bank, Washington DC

Almeida, R., and P. Carneiro 2009 "Enforcement of labour regulation and firm size." *Journal of Comparative Economics* 37, pp. 28–46.

Boly, A 2015a On the benefits of formalization; panel evidence from Vietnam, UN WIDER Paper 2015/038

- 2015b On the Effects of Formalisation on Taxes and Wages: Panel Evidence from Vietnam, UN WIDER Paper 2015/042

Boucher, S., B. Barham and M. Carter 2004 "The Impact of 'Market-Friendly' Reforms on Credit and Land Markets in Honduras and Nicaragua", *World Development* 33, 1: 107–128

Bruhn, M. 2013 "A Tale of Two Species: Revisiting the Effect of Registration Reform on Informal Business Owners in Mexico" *Journal of Development Economics* 103: 275-83

Bruhn, M. 2011 "License to Sell: The Effect of Business Registration Reform on Entrepreneurial Activity in Mexico", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 93(1) pp. 382–386

Burns, A. 2004 Thailand's 20-year Program to Title Rural Land; Background paper prepared for the World Development Report 2005, February 13, 2004

Deininger, K., S. Jin, and M. Sur 2009 "Sri Lanka's rural non-farm economy: Removing constraints to pro-poor growth." *World Development* (35)12, pp. 2056-2078.

De Mel, S., D. McKenzie & C. Woodruff 2011 "Getting Credit to High Return Microentrepreneurs: The Results of an Information Intervention" *The World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 456-485

Do, Q.T. and L. Iyer 2008 "Land Titling and Rural Transition in Vietnam", *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 56, 3: 531-579

Fajnzylber, M., & Montes-Rojas 2011 "Does formality improve micro-firm performance? Evidence from the Brazilian SIMPLES program", *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 94, pp. 262-276.

Fajnzylber, P., W. Maloney and G. Montes Rojas 2009 "Releasing constraints to growth or pushing on a string? Policies and performance of Mexican micro-firms" Journal of Development Studies (45) pp. 1027–1047

Furceri, D. 2012 *Unemployment and Labour Market Issues in Algeria*, IMF Working Paper 12/99, Washington DC

Galiani, S. and E. Schargrodsky 2005 "Property rights for the poor: Effects of land titling", *Journal of Public Economics*, Vol. 94 No 9

Gatti, R., M. Morgandi, R. Grun, S. Brodmann, D. Angel-Urdinola, J.M. Moreno, D. Marotta, M. Schiffbauer, and E.M. Lorenzo 2013 *Jobs for Shared Prosperity: Time for Action in the Middle East and North Africa*, The World Bank, Washington DC

Green, A. and C. Moser 2012 Do Property Rights Institutions Matter at the Local Level? Evidence from Madagascar, *Journal of Development Studies*, December 2012, pp.1–15

Haltiwanger, E., S. Scarpetta, & H. Schweiger 2008 "Assessing Job Flows across Countries: The Role of Industry, Firm Size, and Regulations", Working Paper 13920, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge

Heckman, J.J. and C. Pagés 2004 *Law and Employment: Lessons from Latin America and the Caribbean*, Papers from Conference held November 16-17, 2000, National Bureau of Economic Research, University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London

Jalilian H., C. Kirkpatrick and D. Parker 2007, The impact of regulation in developing countries: a cross sectional analysis , *World Development*, 35 (1), pp. 87-103.

Johnson, S., J. McMillan and C. Woodruff 2002 *Property rights and finance*, NBER Working Paper 8852, Cambridge

Kaplan, D.S., E. Piedra and E. Seira 2011 "Entry regulation and business start-ups: Evidence from Mexico, *Journal of Public Economics* (95) pp. 1501–1515

Kenyon, T. and E. Kapaz 2005 *The Informality Trap*, Viewpoint Series, Note 301. World Bank Group, Private Sector Development Vice-Presidency, Washington, DC

Loayza, N.V., L. Serven and N. Sugawara 2010 "Informality in Latin America and the Caribbean", chapter in Loayza, N.V., L. Serven and N. Sugawara 2010 *Business Regulation and Economic Performance*, World Bank, Washington DC

McKenzie, D., and Y.S. Sakhoa 2010 "Does it pay firms to register for taxes? The impact of formality on firm profitability", *Journal of Development Economics* (91) 1, January, pp. 15–24

Kerekes, C.B. and C.R. Williamson 2008 "Unveiling de Soto's mystery: property rights, capital formation, and development", *Journal of Institutional Economics*, 4(33), pp.299–325

Monteiro, J.C.M. and J.J. Assunção 2012 Coming out of the shadows? Estimating the impact of bureaucracy simplification and tax cut on formality in Brazilian microenterprise, *Journal of Development Economics*, (99) 1, September, pp. 105–115

McCulloch, N., Schulze, G., & Voss, J. 2010 What determines firms' decisions to formalize? Discussion Paper Series 13, University of Frieburg, Department of International Economic Policy

Petrin, A., & J. Sivadasan 2006 "Job Security Does affect Economic Efficiency: Theory, A New Statistic, and Evidence from Chile", NBER Working Paper 12757. Cambridge, United States: National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, United States: National Bureau of Economic Research

Rand, J., & Torm, N. 2012 The benefits of formalization: Evidence from Vietnamese manufacturing SMEs, *World Development* (40) pp. 983–998

Tomaselli, M.F., J. Timko J., & R. Kozak 2012 "The Role of Government in the Development of Small and Medium Forest Enterprises: Case Studies from The Gambia" *Small-scale Forestry*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 237-253

Warner, A. M. 2012 Impact Evaluation of Business License Simplification in Peru: An Independent; Assessment of an International Finance Corporation-Supported Project, IFC, October, Report No. 74469

World Bank 2014 *Women, business and the law 2014*: Removing restrictions to enhance gender equality, Bloomsbury Publishing Plc., London

# SECONDARY STUDIES [S]

Ayyagari, M., T. Beck, & A. Demirgüç-Kunt 2003 "Small and Medium Enterprises across the Globe: A New Database" World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 3127

Beck, T. & A. Demirgüç-Kunt 2004 "SMEs, Growth, and Poverty: Do Pro-SME Policies Work?" World Bank Viewpoint Note 268

Berg, J. and D. Kucera (eds) 2008 *In defence of labour market institutions: Cultivating justice in the developing world*, ILO, Geneva

Berg, A. & A. Kreuger 2003 "Trade, Growth & Poverty Reduction", IMF Working Paper 03/30

Betcherman, G. 2014 *Labor Market Regulations; What Do We Know about Their Impacts in Developing Countries?* Policy Research Working Paper No. 6819, World Bank, Washington DC

Bromley, D.W. 2009. "Formalizing Property Relations in the Developing World: The Wrong Prescription for the Wrong Malady", *Land Use Policy* 26(1): 20–27

Bruhn, M. and D. McKenzie 2013 Entry Regulation and Formalization of Microenterprises in Developing Countries, Policy Research Paper No. 6507, World Bank, Washington DC

Chhibber, A. & N. Gaurav 2007 "Pro-Poor Growth: Explaining the Cross-Country Variation in the Growth Elasticity of Poverty" University of Manchester Brooks World Poverty Institute WP 14/2007

DFID 2014 Secure property rights and development: Economic growth and household welfare; Property rights evidence paper, April, DFID London

Domeher, D. and Abdulai, R. 2012 Access to Credit in the Developing World: does land registration matter? *Third World Quarterly*, 33:1(December), pp.37–41

Gayatri, D. & A. Alexis 2012 "Do IFC Investments Reduce Poverty by Creating Jobs? A Case Study of a Manufacturing Investment in Indonesia", IFC Internal Paper

Dethier, J. J., M. Hirn & S. Straub 2008 "Explaining Enterprise Performance in Developing Countries with Business Climate Survey Data" Policy Research Working Paper 4792

Fane, G. & P. Warr 2002 "How Economic Growth Reduces Poverty: A General Equilibrium Analysis of Indonesia" UN WIDER Discussion Paper 2002/19

Hallward-Driemeier, M., S. Wallsteen & L.C. Xu 2002 "The Investment Climate & the Firm: Firm Level Evidence from China" WB Policy Research Paper 3003

Higgins, K. & S. Prowse 2010 "Trade, growth and poverty: Making Aid for Trade work for inclusive growth and poverty reduction", ODI Working Paper 313

Inchauste, G. 2013 *Jobs and Transitions out of Poverty: A Literature Review*, Background Paper for World Development Report 2013, World Bank, Washington DC

International Finance Corporation 2013 *The Jobs Study: Assessing Private Sector Contributions to Job Creation and Poverty Reduction*, World Bank Group, Washington DC

Jeanneney, S.G. & K. Kpodar 2008 "Financial Development and Poverty Reduction: Can There be a Benefit without a Cost?" IMF Working Paper 08/62

Joseph, J. 2010 "Poverty Reduction and the New Global Governmentality Alternatives", *Global, Local, Political*, Vol. 35, No. 1, pp. 29-51

Joshi, A., W. Prichard, and C. Heady 2014 "Taxing the Informal Economy: The Current State of Knowledge and Agendas for Future Research", *The Journal of Development Studies*, 50:10, 1325-1347

Klapper, L.F. & & S.C. Parker 2011 "Gender and the Business Environment for New Firm Creation" *The World Bank Research Observer*, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 237-257

Kolstad, I. & E. Villanger 2004 "How does social development affect FDI and domestic investment?" Report - Chr. Michelsen Institute

Mbabazi, J., O. Morrissey & C. Milner 2001 "Are Inequality and Trade Liberalization Influences on Growth and Poverty?" UN WIDER Discussion Paper 2001/132

McCulloch, N. 2009 Rural investment climate in Indonesia; Rural Investment Climate in Indonesia

Payne, G., A. Durand-Lasserve, and C. Rakodi, 2009 *The limits of land titling and home ownership, Environment and Urbanization International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED).* Vol 21(2): 443–462

Popli, G.K. 2008 "Trade Liberalization and the Self-employed in Mexico", UN WIDER Research Paper No. 2008/05

Rahman, A. 2014 "Investment Climate Reforms and Job Creation in Developing Countries: What Do We Know and What Should We Do?", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7025

Sulzer, M. 2010 "Making Regulations Work for Informal Businesses and the Poor: Experiences from Jogjakarta, Indonesia" Input paper for DCED Cape Town Conference 2010

USAID 2014 Land Tenure, Property Rights, and Economic Growth In Rural Areas, USAID Issue Brief, USAID, Washington DC

World Bank Independent Evaluation Group 2014 Investment Climate Reforms: An Independent Evaluation of World Bank Group Support to Reforms of Business Regulations, World Bank Group, Washington DC

Wu, X. 2009 "Determinants of Bribery in Asian Firms: Evidence from the World Business Environment Survey", *Journal of Business Ethics*, Vol. 87, No. 1, pp. 75-88

# THEORETICAL PAPERS [T]

Ajakaiye, O., R.E.B. Lucas, & J.T. Karugia 2006 "Africa's resurgence and international migration: An overview", *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 15, SUP PL2, pp. 141-160

Antonio, D.R. 2006 "Instituting good governance in the land administration system - The Philippines' perspective", Land Reform, Land Settlement and Cooperatives, Vol. 2, pp. 73-83

Anyanwu, J.C. 2006 "Promoting of investment in Africa", *African Development Review*, Vol. 18, No. 1, pp. 42-71

Azmat, F. & R. Samaratunge "Responsible entrepreneurship in developing countries: Understanding the realities and complexities", *Journal of Business Ethics*, Vol. 90, No. 3, pp. 437-452

Bannister, G.J. & K. Thugge 2001 "International Trade and Poverty Alleviation" IMF Working Paper 01/54

Bird, K. 2004 A framework to analyse linkages between trade policy, poverty reduction and sustainable development, ODI, London

Bourguignon, F., L. Pereira da Silva & N. Stern 2002 "Evaluating the Poverty Impact of Economic Policies: Some Analytical Challenges", IMF, Washington DC

Buscaglia, E. & P.B. Stephan 2005 "An empirical assessment of the impact of formal versus informal dispute resolution on poverty: A governance-based approach" *International Review of Law and Economics*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 89-106

Caraiani, G. 2008 "Ethics in China's business environment", *Metalurgia International*, Vol. 13, No. 11, pp. 86-92

Chen, M. 2005 "The Business Environment and the Informal Economy: Creating Conditions for Poverty Reduction", Draft Paper for Committee of Donor Agencies for Small Enterprise Development Conference on "Reforming the Business Environment" November 2005, Cairo

Dhanani, S., I. Islam, & A. Chowdhury 2009 *The Indonesian labour market: Changes and challenges,* International Labour Organization, Geneva

Fitch, B. & L. Sorensen 2007 "The case for accelerating profit-making at the base of the pyramid: What could and should the donor community be seeking to do, and what results should it expect?", *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 19, No. 6, pp. 781-792

Gabriel, C.E. & C.S. Ion 2012 "Youth's entrepreneurship in higher education system: Case of the Bucharest Academy of Economic Studies", Innovation Vision 2020: Sustainable growth, Entrepreneurship, and Economic Development - Proceedings of the 19th International Business Information, Vol. 2, pp. 1031-1046

Hoekman, B., C. Michalopoulos, M. Schiff, & D. Tarr 2001 "Trade Policy Reform and Poverty Alleviation" World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 2733

Hull, K. 2009 "Understanding the Relationship between Economic Growth, Employment and Poverty Reduction", *Promoting Pro-Poor Growth and Employment*, OECD, pp. 69-95

Ishengoma & Kappel 2006 Economic Growth and Poverty: Does Formalisation of Informal Enterprises Matter? German Insitute of Global and Area Studies

Kaufmann, D. & A. Kraay 2008 "Governance Indicators: Where Are We, Where Should We Be Going?", *The World Bank Research Observer*, Vol. 23, No. 1, pp. 1-30

Kinuthia, B.K. 2011 "Markets vs. government foreign direct investment and industrialization in Malaysia", *Economia Mexicana*, Nueva Epoca, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 409-443

Kiss A., G. Castro, & K. Newcome 2002 "The role of multilateral institutions", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, Vol. 360, No. 1797, pp. 1641-1652

Knack, S. 2001 "Aid Dependence and the Quality of Governance: Cross-Country Empirical Tests", *Southern Economic Journal*, Vol. 68, No. 2, pp. 310-329

Kumar, R. 2012 Poverty Literature Review Summary: Investment Climate and Poverty Reduction, IFC, Washington DC

Llanto, G.M. & M.M. Ballesteros 2003 "Land issues in poverty reduction strategies and the development agenda: The Philippines", *Land Reform, Land Settlement and Cooperatives*, Vol. 3, SPEC, pp. 201-218

Marshall, R, F. Nixson & B. Walters 2008 *Tracking economic policy outcomes and poverty in Mongolia*, University of Manchester Brooks World Poverty Institute WP 27/2008

McKenzie, D. 2010 "Impact Assessments in Finance and Private Sector Development: What Have We Learned and What Should We Learn?", *The World Bank Research Observer*, Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 209-233

Pfeffermann, G. 2001 "Poverty reduction in developing countries: The role of private enterprise", *Finance and Development*, Vol. 38, No. 2, pp. 42-45

Phillips, L.M. 2006 "Growth and the investment climate: Progress and challenges for Asian economies", IDS Bulletin, Vol. 37, No. 3, pp. 45-63

Severino, R.C. & L.C. Salazar 2007 Whither the Philippines in the 21st century? Whither the Philippines in the 21st Century?

Smith, W., & M. Hallward-Driemeier 2005 "Understanding the investment climate", *Finance and Development*, Vol. 42, No. 1, pp. 40-43

Takii, S., & E.D. Ramstetter 2007 "Survey of recent developments", *Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies*, Vol. 43, No. 3, pp. 295-322

Usui, N. 2011 "Transforming the Philippine economy: 'Walking on two legs'", ADB Economics Working Paper Series 252

Vandenberg, P. 2006 Poverty Reduction through Small Enterprises: Emerging Consensus and Key Issues, ILO SEED Working Paper 75

Winzker, D.H., & L. Pretorius 2008 "The leverage effect of holistic engineering and technology management to sustain a developing economy", PICMET: Portland International Center for Management of Engineering and Technology, Proceedings

Zhang, H., X. Li & X. Shao 2006 "Impacts of China's rural land policy and administration on rural economy and grain production", *Review of Policy Research*, Vol. 23, No. 2, pp. 607-624

Zinnes, C. 2009 Business Environment Reforms and the Informal Economy, DCED, Cambridge

#### OTHER COUNTRIES

#### PRIMARY STUDIES [P]

Alesina, A., S. Ardagna, G. Nicoletti, and F. Schiantarelli 2005 "Regulation and investment", *Journal of the European Economic Association* 3(4): 791-825.

Bernal-Verdugo L., D. Furceri and D. Guillaume 2012a "Banking Crises, Labour Reforms, and Unemployment", *Journal of Comparative Economics*, (41) 4, November, pp.1202-1219

— 2012b "Labour Market Flexibility and Unemployment: New Empirical Evidence of Static and Dynamic Effects", *Comparative Economic Studies*, 2012, Vol. 54 (2), pp. 251-273

Botero, J., S. Djankov, R. La Porta, F. Lopez-de-Silanes, and A. Shliefer 2003 "The Regulation of Labor" NBER Working Paper 9756

Campos, N.F. and J.B. Nugent 2012 *The Dynamics of the Regulation of Labor in Developing and Developed Countries since 1960*, Discussion Paper Series, IZA DP No. 6881, September, Institute for the Study of Labor, Bonn

Crivelli, E., D. Furceri and J. Toujas-Bernaté 2012 *Can Policies Affect Employment Intensity of Growth?* A Cross-Country Analysis, IMF Working Paper 12/218, Washington DC

Djankov, S., T. Ganser, C. McLiesh, R. Ramalho, and A. Schleifer 2010 The effect of corporate taxes on investment and entrepreneurship, *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 2(3): 31-64

Djankov S., C. McLiesh, R.M. Ramalho 2006, "Regulation and growth", *Economic Letters*, Vol. 92, pp. 395-401

Gorgens, T., M. Paldam, and A. Wuertz, 2003 *How Does Public Regulation Affect Growth?* Working Paper No. 2003-14, University of Aarhus

Loayza, N.V., A.M. Oviedo and L. Servén 2004 *Regulation and Macroeconomic Performance*, mimeo, World Bank.

# **SECONDARY STUDIES [S]**

Aleksynska, M. 2014 Deregulating labour markets: How robust is the analysis of recent IMF working papers? Conditions of Work and Employment Series No. 47, ILO, Geneva

Berg, J. and S. Cazes 2008 "Policymaking gone awry: The labor market regulations of the doing business indicators," *Comparative Labor Law & Policy Journal*, Vol. 29, Issue 4, pp. 349–382.

Carter, A. (ed) 2013 *Key issues and debates in VAT, SME taxation and the tax treatment of the financial sector,* International Tax Dialogue, OECD, Paris

Hertel, T., & J. Reimer 2005 "Predicting the Poverty Impacts of Trade Reforms", *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp. 377-405

Mante J., I. Ndekugri & N. Ankrah 2011 "Resolution of disputes arising from major infrastructure projects in developing countries", COBRA 2011, Proceedings of RICS Construction and Property Conference, pp. 104-116

Prillaman, S.A., & K.J. Meier 2014 "Taxes, incentives, and economic growth: Assessing the impact of pro-business taxes on U.S. state economies", *Journal of Politics*, Vol. 76, No. 2, pp. 364-379

Winters, A., N. McCulloch, & A. McKay 2004 "Trade Liberalisation and Poverty: The Evidence So Far", *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 42, No. 1, pp. 72-115

World Bank 2004 A Better Investment Climate for Everyone; World Development Report 2005, World Bank Group, Washington DC

Xu, L.C. 2011 "The Effects of Business Environments on Development: Surveying New Firmlevel Evidence", *The World Bank Research Observer*, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 310-340

# THEORETICAL PAPERS [T]

Bonanno, A., & S.J. Goetz 2012 "WalMart and Local Economic Development: A Survey", *Economic Development Quarterly*, Vol. 26, No. 4, pp. 285-297

Borkovskaya, V.G. 2012 "The concept of innovation for sustainable development in the construction business and education", *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, 475-476, pp. 1703-1706

Coursey, D. & D.F. Norris 2008 "Models of E-Government: Are They Correct? An Empirical Assessment", *Public Administration Review*, pp. 523-536

Mashapa, J., & D. Van Greunen 2010 "User experience evaluation metrics for usable accounting tools", ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, pp. 170-181

Prahalad, C.K 2006 The Fortune at the Bottom of the Pyramid, Pearsdon, Prentice Hall

Sturm, R. 2008 "Disparities in the food environment surrounding US middle and high schools", *Public Health*, Vol. 122, No. 7, pp. 681-690

Wiggins, S., J. Kirsten & L. Llambi 2010 "The Future of Small Farms", *World Development*, Vol. 38, No. 10, pp. 1341-1348

# **APPENDIX 1: METHODOLOGY NOTES**

#### STUDY SEARCHES

The search in each site involved a series of common search phrases that were designed to locate studies that would address all or part of the research question.

First, some search phrases were applied to locate studies that dealt with the general link between BER and poverty:

- "Business enabling environment" AND poverty
- "Business environment reform" AND poverty
- "Investment climate" AND poverty
- "Investment climate reform" AND poverty

Following this, searches were conducted to focus on the specific functional areas of BER and poverty:

- "Simplified business registration and licensing" AND poverty
- "Improved tax administration" AND poverty
- "Improved labour laws administration" AND poverty
- "Improved regulation" AND poverty
- "Improved land administration AND poverty
- "Access to commercial courts" AND poverty
- "Alternative dispute resolution" AND poverty
- "Public-private dialogue" and poverty
- "PPD" AND poverty ('PPD' is a commonly used abbreviation of public-private dialogue)

#### **Table 1: DFID Priority Countries**

Afghanistan	Malawi	South Africa
Bangladesh	Mozambique	South Sudan
Burma	Nepal	Sudan
DR Congo	Nigeria	Tajikistan
Ethiopia	Occupied Palestinian Territories	Tanzania
Ghana	Pakistan	Uganda
India	Rwanda	Yemen
Kenya	Sierra Leone	Zambia
Kyrgyz Republic	Somalia	Zimbabwe
Liberia		

Vietnam was included in this list of priority countries in this analysis as it had until 2011 been a DFID focus country and had received considerable assistance and support.

# **APPENDIX 2: QUALITY ASSESSMENTS**

Table 1: Individual study quality

Quality Score	DFID Priority Countries	Low- and Middle- Income Countries	Other Countries	Total	Percentages
High Quality [↑] (SCORE 14-20)	16	43	6	65	73%
Medium Quality [→] (SCORE 7-13)	7	11	6	24	27%
Low Quality [↓] (SCORE 0-6)	0	0	0	0	0.0%
Total	23	54	12	89	100.0%
Percentages	26%	61%	13%	-	-

Table 2: High and Medium Quality studies reviewed based on geographical coverage

#### **DFID Priority Countries**

High Quality Primary Studies [↑]

Besley 1995, Besley & Burgess 2004, Bhanumurthy & Mitra 2004, Deininger, et.al., 2011, Jin & Deininger 2009, Ojah et.al., 2010, Rand and Torm 2012, Smith et. al. 2007, Sur, et. al. 2014

High Quality Secondary Studies [↑]

Boly 2015a,b, Besley & Cord 2007; Ellis et. al. 2006; Ellis et.al., 2007, Minot & Goletti 2000, Topalova 2010

Medium Quality Primary Studies  $[\rightarrow]$ 

Ahsan & Pagés 2008, Hampwaye & Jeppesen 2014, White 2014

Medium Quality Secondary Studies  $[\rightarrow]$ 

Dollar 2002, Fedderke & Garlick 2012, Schaumburg-Müller 2005, Sitko & Jayne 2014

#### **Low- and Medium Income Countries**

High Quality Primary Studies [↑]

Alatas & Cameron 2003, Almeida & Carneiro 2009, Bruhn 2011 & 2013, Betcherman 2014, Bernal-Verdugo, et.al., 2012a & 2012b, Botero, et.al., 2003, Boucher, et.al., 2004, Campos & Nugent 2012, Crivelli, et.al., 2012, Do & Iyer 2008, Deininger, et.al., 2007, Deininger, et.al. 2005, Galiani & Schargrodsky 2005, Gatti, et.al., 2013, Green & Moser 2012, Jalilian, et.al., 2007, Johnson, et.al., 2002, Kerekes & Williamson 2008, Kaplan, et.al., 2011, Kenyon & Kapaz 2005, Loayza, et.al., 2010, McCulloch, et.al., 2010, McKenzie & Sakho 2010, Monteiro & Assunção 2012, Petrin & Sivadasan 2006, Rama 2001, Warner 2012, World Bank 2014

High Quality Secondary Studies [↑]

Aleksynska 2014, Berg & Cazes 2008, Berg & Kreuger 2003, Berg & Kucera 2008, Bromley 2009, DFID 2014, Fajnzylber & Montes-Rojas 2011, Fajnzylber, et.al., 2009, Mbabazi, et.al., 2001, McCulloch 2009; Popli 2008, USAID 2014, Warner 2012

Medium Quality Primary Studies  $[\rightarrow]$ 

Cousins, et.al., 2005, Furceri 2012

Medium Quality Secondary Studies  $[\rightarrow]$ 

Beck & Demirgüç-Kunt 2004, Burns 2004, Dethier, et. al. 2008, Domeher & Abdulai 2012, Heckman & Pagés 2004, IFC 2013, Joshi, et.al., 2014, Klapper & Parker 2011, Rahman 2014

# Other Countries High Quality Primary Studies [↑] Djankov, et.al., 2006, Djankov, et.al., 2010, Gorgens, et.al., 2003, Jacobzone, et.al., 2010, Loayza, et.al., 2004 High Quality Secondary Studies [↑] Prillaman & Meier 2014 Medium Quality Primary Studies [→] None Medium Quality Secondary Studies [→] Carter 2013, Hertel & Reimer 2005, Winters et. al. 2004, World Bank 2004 & 2013, Xu 2011

Table 3: Context – the geographic focus of studies (High and Medium Quality)

DFID Priority Coun	tries	Low-Income an	d Middle-Income Countries
Afghanistan	None	Algeria	Furceri 2012
Bangladesh	Besley & Cord 2007, White 2014	Argentina	Galiani & Schargrodsky 2005
Burma	None	China	Xu 2010
DR Congo	None	Chile	Petrin & Sivadasan 2006
Ethiopia	Deininger, et.al., 2011, Smith, et.al., 2007	Bolivia	Besley & Cord 2007, McKenzie and Sakho 2010
Ghana	Besley 1995, Besley & Cord 2007 Ojah <i>et.al.,</i> 2010	Brazil	Almeida & Carneiro 2009, Besley & Cord 2007, Fajnzylber & Montes-Rojas 2011, Monteiro and Assunção 2012
Kenya	Ellis, et.al., 2007, Ojah et.al., 2010	Burkino Faso	Besley & Cord 2007
Kyrgyz Republic	None	El Salvador	Besley & Cord 2007
Malawi	Fedderke & Garlick 2012,	Honduras	Boucher, et.al., 2004
Nepal	White 2014	Indonesia	Alatas & Cameron 2003, Besley & Cord 2007, McCulloch 2009, McCulloch, et.al., 2010, Rama 2001
Nigeria	None	Madagascar	Green & Moser 2012
India	Ahsan & Pagés 2008, Bhanumurthy & Mitra 2004, Besley & Burgess 2004, Besley & Cord 2007, Topalova 2010, White 2014	Mexico	Bruhn 2011, 2013, Fajnzylber, <i>et.al.</i> , 2009, Kaplan, <i>et.al.</i> , 2011, Kenyon & Kapaz 2005, Popli 2008
Liberia	None	Nicaragua	Boucher, et.al., 2004
Mozambique	None	Peru	Warner 2012
Palestine (OPT)	None	Romania	Besley & Cord 2007
Pakistan	Sur, et. al. 2014	Senegal	Besley & Cord 2007, Payne et.al., 2005
Rwanda	IEG 2014 (case study)	Sri Lanka	Deininger, et. al. 2005, White 2014
Sierra Leone	None	Thailand	Burns 2004
Somalia	None	Tunisia	Besley & Cord 2007
South Africa	Cousins, et.al., 2005, Payne et.al., 2005	Sri Lanka	De Mel, et. al., 2012, Deininger, et.al., 2007
South Sudan Sudan	None None	Vietnam	Besley & Cord 2007, Boly 2015a,b, Do & Iyer 2008, Dollar 2002, Minot & Goletti 2000, Rand and Torm 2012, Schaumburg-Müller 2005, Smith, et.al., 2007
Tajikistan	None	Other Countries	
Tanzania	Jin & Deininger 2009, Ojah et.al., 2010	MENA	Gatti, et.al., 2013
Uganda	Besley & Cord 2007, Ellis, et.al., 2006, Smith, et.al., 2007	USA	Prillaman & Meier 2014
Yemen	None		
Zambia	Besley & Cord 2007, Hampwaye & Jeppesen 2014, Sitko & Jayne 2014		
Zimbabwe	None		
General (broad da	ta sets)		

#### General (broad data sets)

Aleksynska 2014, Beck & Demirgüç-Kunt 2004, Berg & Kreuger 2003, Betcherman 2014, Berg & Cazes 2008, Berg & Kucera 2008, Bernal-Verdugo, et.al., 2012a,b, Botero, et.al., 2003, Bromley 2009, Carter 2013, Crivelli, et.al., 2012, Dethier et.al. 2008, DFID 2014, Djankov, et.al., 2006, Djankov, et.al., 2010, Domeher & Abdulai 2012, Gorgens, et.al., 2003, Haltiwanger, et.al., 2008, Hertel & Reimer 2005, Heckman & Pagés 2004, IEG 2014, IFC 2013, Inchauste 2013, Jacobzone, et.al., 2010, Jalilian, et.al., 2007, Johnson, et.al., 2002, Joshi, et.al., 2014, Kerekes & Williamson 2008, Klapper & Parker 2011, Loayza, et.al., 2010, Loayza, et.al., 2004, Mbabazi et.al., 2001, Rahman 2014, USAID 2014, Winters et.al., 2004, World Bank 2004

Table 4: Studies containing evidence on BER and firm behaviour

Business registration and licensing	
High Quality [↑]	Medium Quality [→]
Boly 2015a	Bruhn and McKenzie 2013 [Secondary]
Bruhn 2011	IFC 2013 [Secondary]
Bruhn 2013	
De Mel, et. al., 2012	
Deininger, et.al., 2007	
Ellis, et.al., (2006)	
Ellis, et.al., (2007)	
Fajnzylber & Montes-Rojas 2011	
Kaplan, et. al., 2011	
McCulloch, et.al., 2010	
Monteiro & Assunção 2012	
Warner 2012	
Tax policies and administration reform	
High Quality [↑]	Medium Quality [→]
Boly 2015a	Carter 2013 [Secondary]
Djankov, et.al., 2010	IFC 2013 [Secondary]
Fajnzylber, et.al., 2009	Joshi, et.al., 2014 [Secondary]
Kenyon & Kapaz 2005	
McKenzie & Sakho 2010	
Prillaman & Meier 2014	
Rand and Torm 2012	
Improvement of labour laws and administration systems	
High Quality [↑]	Medium Quality [→]
Alatas & Cameron 2003	Aleksynska 2014
Almeida & Carneiro 2009	Ahsan & Pagés 2008
Bernal-Verdugo, et.al., 2012a,b	Berg & Cazes 2008
Besley & Burgess 2004	Berg & Kucera 2008
Botero, J. <i>et.al.</i> , 2003	Betcherman 2014
Crivelli, et.al., 2012	Campos & Nugent 2012
Furceri 2012	Hampwaye & Jeppesen 2014
Gatti, et.al., 2013	Heckman & Pagés 2004
Haltiwanger, et.al., 2008	IFC 2013 [Secondary]
Petrin & Sivadasan 2006	Inchauste 2013 [Secondary]
Rama 2001	White 2014
	World Bank 2013 [Secondary]
	Xu 2010
Land titles, registers and administration reform	
High Quality [↑]	Medium Quality [→]
Besley 1995	Bromley 2009
Boucher, et.al., 2004	Burns 2004
Deininger, et.al., 2011	Cousins, et.al., 2005
Do & Iyer 2008	Domeher & Abdulai 2012

Galiani & Schargrodsky 2005	DFID 2014 [Secondary]
Green & Moser 2012	Payne et.al., 2005
Ojah et.al., 2010	USAID 2014 [Secondary]
Johnson, et.al., 2002	
Kerekes & Williamson 2008	
Minot & Goletti 2000	
Smith <i>et.al.,</i> 2007	
World Bank 2014	

Table 5: Studies containing evidence on firm behaviour and aggregate economic effects

High Quality [↑]	Medium Quality [→]
Boly 2015b	Dethier, Hirn and Straub 2010
Ellis, et.al., 2006	IEG 2014
Ellis, et.al., 2007	IFC 2013
Djankov, et.al., 2006	Rahman 2014
Gorgens, et.al., 2003	USAID 2014
Jacobzone, et.al., 2010	
Jalilian, et.al., 2007	
Loayza, et.al., 2010	
Loayza, et.al., 2004	
Sur, et.al., (2014	

# **APPENDIX 3: SEARCH RESULTS**

Date of Search:	6 March 2015
Search Database:	Donor Committee for Enterprise Development: www.businessenvironment.org
Reference No.	DCED01
Search Phrase:	No filter – all 116 entries
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to date
Results:	15 – all in English
Date of Search:	6 March 2015
Search Database:	Brooks World Poverty Institute @ University of Manchester
Reference No.	BWPI
Search Phrase:	No filter – all 213 entries
Inclusive Date Range:	2007 to date
Results:	3 – in English
Date of Search:	6 March 2015
Search Database:	OECD
Reference No.	OECD1
Search Phrase:	Regulatory Reform (135 entries)
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to date
Results:	2 – in English
Date of Search:	6 March 2015
Search Database:	Townsend Centre for International Poverty at University of Bristol
Reference No.	TCIP
Search Phrase:	No filter – 40 entries
Inclusive Date Range:	2008 to date
Results:	0 – no relevance at all
Date of Search:	6 March 2015
Search Database:	EBRD
Reference No.	EBRD1
Search Phrase:	Working Papers
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to date
Results:	0 –no relevance at all
Date of Search:	8 March 2015
Search Database:	International Alert
Reference No.	IA1
Search Phrase:	Africa
Inclusive Date Range:	2006- date
Results:	0
Date of Search:	11 March 2015
Search Database:	Google
Reference No.	G01-1
Search Phrase:	IC Reform & Poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000-date
Results:	60 potentially relevant entries 8 selected– all in English

	T
Date of Search:	11 March 2015
Search Database:	Google
Reference No.	G01-2
Search Phrase:	BE Reform & Poverty (160 potentially relevant)
Inclusive Date Range:	2000- date
Results:	5 selected – all in English
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Google Scholar
Reference No.	GS01-1
Search Phrase:	Investment Climate Reform & Poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000-date
Results:	7
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Google Scholar
Reference No.	GS01-2
Search Phrase:	Poverty & Business Enabling Environment Reform (160 entries)
Inclusive Date Range:	2000-date
Results:	4
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Google Scholar
Reference No.	GS01-3
Search Phrase:	Simplified business registration & licensing & poverty (116 entries)
Inclusive Date Range:	2000- date
Results:	1
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Google Scholar
Reference No.	GS01-4
Search Phrase:	Improved tax administration/improved labour laws administration/improved regulation/improved
	land administration and poverty
	2000-date
Inclusive Date Range:	0
Results:	
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	DFID Research for Development (R4D)
Reference No.	DFID
Search Phrase:	Business Regulation
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 – date
Results:	1
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation
Reference No.	3ie-01
Search Phrase:	Working papers/Systematic reviews/Impact Evaluation Reports
Inclusive Date Range:	2009-date
Results:	0
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Microsoft Academic Search
Reference No.	MAS1-01  Business Enabling Environment & Deverty and Business Environment Reform & Deverty
Search Phrase:	Business Enabling Environment & Poverty and Business Environment Reform & Poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000-date
Results:	4 – all in English

Date of Coords	20 March 2015
Date of Search: Search Database:	20 March 2015 Microsoft Academic Search
Reference No.	MAS1-02
Search Phrase:	Simplified Business Registration & licensing/Improved tax administration/improved labour laws
Search Fillase.	administration/improved regulation/improved land administration and poverty
	2000-date
Inclusive Date Range:	0
Results:	
Date of Search:	20 March 2015
Search Database:	Microsoft Academic Search
Reference No.	MAS1-03
Search Phrase:	IC reform & poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000-date
Results:	9 all in English
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	SS1
Search Phrase:	"business environment" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	28
	All in English
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	SS2
Search Phrase:	"business enabling environment" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	1 – in English
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business enabling environment" AND reform AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	None
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	SS3
Search Phrase:	"investment climate" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	22 – all in English
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	SS4
Search Phrase:	"investment climate" AND reform AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	4 – all in English
	<u>'</u>

Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business registration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	None
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business licensing" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	None
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"tax administration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	3 – all in English
	All excluded as irrelevant: two were taxation text books, one was a study on personal income tax avoidance in Nigeria.
	NB: Searching "taxation administration" AND poverty produced no results.
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"labour administration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	3 — all in English.
	All excluded as irrelevant: all dealt with labour reform in the UK.
Date of Search:	19 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"regulation reform" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	None
Date of Search:	20 March 2015
Search Database:	Scopus
Reference No.	SS5
Search Phrase:	"land administration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	23 — all in English.
	Studies excluded: dealing with developed economies, text books, conceptual or normative reports
	Total after exclusion: 5

Search Database: Reference No. Search Phrase: Inclusive Date Range: Results:  Date of Search: Search Database: Reference No. Scopus Scopus Scopus Scopus Scopus Scopus Scopus Scopus Scopus	AND poverty
Search Phrase: "commercial justice" . Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Present None  Date of Search: 20 March 2015 Search Database: Scopus	AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Present Results: None  Date of Search: 20 March 2015 Search Database: Scopus	AND poverty
Results: None  Date of Search: 20 March 2015 Search Database: Scopus	
Date of Search: 20 March 2015 Search Database: Scopus	
Search Database: Scopus	
Search Database: Scopus	
Poforonco No	
Search Phrase: "alternative dispute re	esolution" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Present	
Results: 3 — all in English	
	rrelevant because it dealt with non-economic issues in Canada.
Total after exclusion:	2
Date of Search: 20 March 2015	
Search Database: Scopus	
Reference No. SS7	
Search Phrase: "public private dialog	ue" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Present	
Results: 2 — all in English	
One was excluded as dealing with PPD.	rrelevant because it simply referred to dialogue in its abstract and was not
Total after exclusion:	1
Date of Search: 23 March 2015	
Search Database: JSTOR	
Reference No. JSTOR1	
Search Phrase: "business enabling en	vironment" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000/01/01 to 2015/0	03/23
Other inclusions: English, articles, book	S
Results: 2	
Date of Search: 23 March 2015	
Reference No. N/A	
Search Phrase: "business enabling en	vironment" AND reform AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000/01/01 to 2015/0	03/23
Other inclusions: English, articles, book	s
<b>Results:</b> Same results as JT1.	
Date of Search: 23 March 2015	

Search Database:   JSTOR   STOR2	
i neielelice ivo. I JSTUKZ	
	vironment" AND poverty
	o 2015/03/23
Other inclusions: English, article	es, books
articles, and	t review of these results excluded non-evidence based interviews, commentary, concept studies from irrelevant disciplines (e.g., religious studies, IT management).
Final Result:	
	search produce very broad results, but when combing through these, the relevance to brase is typically poor. Many results did not combine "business environment" with
Date of Search: 23 March 20:	15
Search Database: JSTOR	
Reference No. N/A	
Search Phrase: "business en	vironment" AND reform AND poverty
	o 2015/03/23
Other inclusions: English, article	· ·
	t review of these results excluded non-evidence based interviews, commentary, concept
200 4 400	studies from irrelevant disciplines (e.g., religious studies, IT management).
After going the	nrough these results, there were no additional studies found to the earlier JSTOR search.
Date of Search: 24 March 20:	15
Search Database: JSTOR	
Reference No. N/A	
Search Phrase: "business lice	ensing" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Prese	ent
articles, and	review of these results excluded non-evidence based interviews, commentary, concept studies from irrelevant disciplines (e.g., religious studies, IT management). After going e results, there were no additional studies found to the earlier JSTOR search.
Date of Search: 24 March 20:	1.5
Search Database: JSTOR	
Reference No. JSTOR4	
Search Phrase: "tax administ	ration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Prese	ent .
	review of these results excluded non-evidence based interviews, commentary, concept studies from irrelevant disciplines (e.g., religious studies, IT management).
	search produce very broad results, but when combing through these, the relevance to brase is typically poor.
Date of Search: 24 March 20:	15
Search Database: JSTOR	
Reference No. N/A	
Search Phrase: "labour admi	nistration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range: 2000 to Prese	ent
	e relevant to the REA

Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	JSTOR
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"regulation reform" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	11 – but none relevant to the REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	JSTOR
Reference No.	SS5
Search Phrase:	"land administration" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	37 – a direct review of these results excluded non-evidence based interviews, commentary, concept articles, and studies from irrelevant disciplines.
	Final Result: 2
	Note: JSTORE search produce very broad results, but when combing through these, the relevance to the Search Phrase is typically poor.
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	JSTOR
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"commercial justice" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	None
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database	World Bank IFC
Reference No	WB-01
Search Phrase	Poverty Reduction & Investment Climate  2000 – date
Inclusive Date Range Results	644 entries – 13 relevant
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	JSTOR
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"alternative dispute resolution" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	44 results, but none of these matched the requirements of the REA.
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	JSTOR
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"public private dialogue" AND poverty
Inclusive Date Range:	2000 to Present
Results:	None
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment reform"
Results:	No results found
nesuits.	TWO TESURES TOURING

Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment" AND "poverty"
Results:	One, but not relevant
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: <a href="http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/">http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment"
Results:	37, but none are relevant to the REA – one study found relevant to RQ1 on business licensing in Peru. Details below table.
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: <a href="http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/">http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment climate" AND "poverty"
Results:	No results found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: <a href="http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/">http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment climate"
Results:	Two results, but none relevant to the REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: <a href="http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/">http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment promotion"
Results:	No results found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: <a href="http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/">http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment facilitation"
Results:	No results found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: <a href="http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/">http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	FDI
Results:	No results found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"private investment"
Results:	One result, but not relevant to the REA

Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Monitoring and Evaluation NEWS: http://mande.co.uk
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment reform"
Timeframe:	Pre-2008
Results:	No results found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Monitoring and Evaluation NEWS: <a href="http://mande.co.uk">http://mande.co.uk</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment" AND "poverty"
Timeframe:	Post-2008
Results:	One report found, but not relevant to REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Monitoring and Evaluation NEWS: <a href="http://mande.co.uk">http://mande.co.uk</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment climate"
Timeframe:	Pre-2008
Results:	No posts found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Monitoring and Evaluation NEWS: <a href="http://mande.co.uk">http://mande.co.uk</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment climate"
Timeframe:	Post-2008
Results:	No posts found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Monitoring and Evaluation NEWS: <a href="http://mande.co.uk">http://mande.co.uk</a>
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"private investment"
Timeframe:	Pre-2008
Results:	Two posts, but none relevant to the REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Monitoring and Evaluation NEWS: http://mande.co.uk
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"private investment"
Timeframe:	Post-2008
Results:	No posts found
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment" AND "poverty"
Results:	33 items found, many of these are talks, presentations and conceptual position papers and briefs.  After a scan of all items, none were found to be relevant to the REA.

Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business environment reform"
Results:	20 items found, many of these are talks, presentations and conceptual position papers and briefs.  After a scan of all items, none were found to be relevant to the REA.
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment climate reform"
Results:	8 items found, many of these are talks, presentations and conceptual position papers and briefs.  After a scan of all items, none were found to be relevant to the REA.
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"investment climate" AND "poverty"
Results:	8 items found, many of these are talks, presentations and conceptual position papers and briefs. After a scan of all items, none were found to be relevant to the REA.
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"private investment"
Results:	0
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business licensing"
Results:	4 results, but none relevant to REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"business registration"
Results:	9 results, but none relevant to REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"land administration"
Results:	1 results, but not relevant to REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"commercial justice"
Results:	1 results, but not relevant to REA

Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"alternative dispute resolution"
Results:	2 results, but none relevant to REA
Date of Search:	24 March 2015
Search Database:	Microlinks (USAID): https://www.microlinks.org/library
Reference No.	N/A
Search Phrase:	"public private dialogue"
Results:	10 results, but none relevant to REA

The Department for International Development: leading the UK government's fight against world poverty.

Department for International Development 22 Whitehall London SW1A 2EG UK

and at:

Abercrombie House Eaglesham Road East Kilbride Glasgow G75 8EA UK

Tel: +44 (0)20 7023 0000

Fax: +44 (0)20 7023 0016

Website: www.dfid.gov.uk

Facebook: www.facebook.com/ukdfid

Twitter: @DFID\_UK

Email: enquiry@dfid.gov.uk

Public enquiry point: 0845 3004100 or +44 1355 84 3132 (if you are calling from abroad)

© Crown copyright 2015

Copyright in the typographical arrangement and design rests with the Crown. This publication (excluding the logo) may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium, provided that it is reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright with the title and source of the publication specified.

Published by the Department for International Development, August, 2015  $\,$